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For the County of Sauta Barbara, Anacapa Division 

Craig Clover, an individual, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Franciscan Friars of California, Inc.; Old 
Mission Santa Barbara, and Does 3 ' 
through 100, Inclusive. 

Defendants. 

Case No. 1338070 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE 
RELIEF FOR: 

1. PUBLIC NUISANCE 
2. NEGLIGENCE 
3. NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION/ 

FAILURE TO WARN; 
4. NEGLIGENT 

HIRlNGIRETENTION 
5. FRAUD; 
6. FIDUCIARY/CONFIDENTIAL 

RELATIONSHIP FRAUD AND 
CONSPIRACY; 

7. BREACH OF FIDUCIARY 
DUTY; 

8. NEGLIGENT FAILURE TO 
WARN, TRAIN, OR EDUCATE 
PLAINTIFFS; 

9. INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF 
EMOTIONAL DISTRESS; 

10. NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF 
EMOTIONAL DISTRESS; 

11. VIOLATION OF BUSINESS & 

12. 
PROFESSIONS CODE § 17200; 
FRAUD AND DECEIT; 

13. PREMISES LIABILITY. 

25 Based upon information and belief available to Plaintiff Craig Clover at the time of 

26 the filing of this First Amended Complaint, Plaintiff makes the following allegations: 

27 PARTIES 

28 1. Plaintiff Craig Clover is an adult male over the age of26. Plaintiff was a minor 
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residing in the county of Santa Barbara at the time of the sexual abuse alleged herein. 

2. Defendant Doe IlFranciscan Friars of California, Inc. ("Defendant Franciscan Friars" 

or "the Franciscans" or "Defendant Order") is a Roman Catholic Order and a nonprofit public 

benefit corporation organized for religious purposes and incorporated under the laws of the 

State of California, doing business in Santa Barbara. Defendant Order is the religious order 

that owned andlor operated the properties in Santa Barbara - St. Anthony's Seminary ("St. 

Anthony's") and Doe 2/0ld Mission Santa Barbara - where many of Does 1 -100's other 

pedophilic andlor ephebophilic agents sexually assaulted children. 

2.1 Defendant Doe 2/0ld Mission Santa Barbara ("Defendant Old Mission"), also known 

as Saint Barbara Parish, is a Roman Catholic church or parish located in Santa Barbara, 

California. Doe 2 is the church or parish where the perpetrators were assigned, or in 

residence, or doing supply work, or volunteering at, or visiting during the period of wrongful 

conduct. Does 1 through 100 are sometimes referred to collectively as "Defendants." 

2.2 The Perpetrators, Franciscan Fathers Dave Johnson, Gus Krumm, and a third but as 

yet unidentified Franciscan, were at all times relevant individuals residing andlor doing 

business in the City and County of Santa Barbara, California, and were Roman Catholic 

priests, members, religious brothers, employees, agents andlor servants of the Franciscans 

andlor Defendant Old Mission andlor Does 3-100. During the dates of abuse, the 

Perpetrators were assigned, or in residence, or doing supply work, or volunteering, or visiting 

at Defendant Old Mission, and were under the direct supervision, employ and control of the 

Franciscans andlor Defendant Old Mission andlor Does 3-100. 

3. Defendant Does 3 through 100, inclusive, are individuals andlor business or 

corporate entities incorporated in andlor doing business in California whose true names and 

capacities are unknown to Plaintiff who therefore sues such defendants by such fictitious 

names, and who will amend the First Amended Complaint to show the true names and 

capacities of each such Doe defendant when ascertained. Each such Defendant Doe is legally 

responsible in some manner for the cvents, happenings andlor tortious and unlawful conduct 

that caused the injuries and damages alleged in this First Amended Complaint. 
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1 4. The Perpetrators and/or each Defendant were and/or are the agent, servant and/or 

2 employee of the Franciscans and/or Defendant Old Mission and/or Does 3 -100. The 

3 Perpetrators and/or each Defendant were acting within the course and scope of his, her or its 

4 authority as an agent, servant and/or employee of the Perpetrators and/or other Defendants. 

5 The Perpetrators and/or the Franciscans and/or Defendant Old Mission and/or Does 3 -100, 

6 and each of them, are individuals, corporations, partnerships and other entities which engaged 

7 in, joined in and conspired with the other wrongdoers in carrying out the tortious and 

8 unlawful activities described in this First Amended Complaint, and the Perpetrators and/or 

9 each Defendant ratified the acts of the Perpetrators and/or the Franciscans and/or Defendant 

10 Old Mission and/or Does 3 -100 as described in this Complaint. 

11 

12 BACKGROUND FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS 

13 5. The Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents 

14 committed acts of Childhood Sexual Abuse in Santa Barbara before, during, and after the 

15 time Craig attended St. Anthony's. The Franciscan corporate practice of concealing the 

16 identities, propensities, and current assigllll1ents and/or residences ofthese perpetrators has 

17 enabled and empowered such men to sexually assault and/or continue to place at risk 

18 countless children around the various locations in the Western United States and throughout 

19 the world where these Franciscans have conducted their business for nearly a century, 

20 including but not limited to Franciscan friaries, missions, parishes, retreat centers and other 

21 conununities in the western States of Arizona, California, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico, 

22 Oregon, Utah and Washington, and in countries such as Africa, Brazil, EI Salvador, 

23 Guatemala, Israel, Italy, Mexico, Peru, the Philippines and Thailand. Finally, an unknown 

24 number of Defendants' fonner pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, whose propensities 

25 Defendants have been aware of for years but have disclosed to no one, continue to sexually 

26 assault and/or place at risk countless children around these locations as well as at numerous 

27 other locations, such as in the State of Idaho, where these fonner Franciscans now reside. 

28 / / / 
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1 The Origin of the Explosion of Franeiscan Sex Crimes in Santa Barbara in the 196Qs 

2 6. Franciscan peIpetrators have been sexually assaulting children in Santa Barbara since 
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at least 1936. During this time at least forty-four (44) pedophilic and/or ephebophilic Roman 

Catholic priests or religious brothers have been assigned to work at and were living at and/or 

visiting various locations around Santa Barbara County, including but not limited to St. 

Raphael's Church in Goleta, San Roque, Our Lady of Guadalupe, Our Lady ofMt. Carmel in 

Montecito, and the adjoining properties of St. Anthony's and the Mission. Twenty-seven 

(27) of those priests or religious brothers were or are Franciscans. 

Although Franciscan priests and Religious brothers abused Santa Barbara children 

much earlier in the 20th Century, there was an explosion of Franciscan sex crimes against at 

least sixty-two (62) local children beginning in the early 1960s. That explosion was triggered 

by events involving the Franciscans in the Diocese of San Diego in the early 1950s. 

Prior to Santa Barbara the Franciscans used parishes in communities that at the time 

were on the outskirts of the Diocese, such as Banning and Beaumont, as havens to send their 

problem priests and Religious Brothers. Eventually the Diocese ended the Franciscans' 

conduct. According to a letter written by the Bishop of San Diego on April 26, 1950: 

"During the thirteen years since this Diocese was erected, to my own 
personal knowledge, the Saint Barbara Provinee of the Francisean 
Fathers has used this Diocese as a dumping ground for their moral, 
mental and physical problems. It became necessary for me some 
time ago to demand the withdrawal of one misfit after another." See 
Exhibit "A" (Emphasis added). 

The Bishop was so frustrated with the Franciscans that he commenced the process of 

applying to the necessary religious bodies in Rome to evict the Franciscans from the parishes 

in the Diocese of San Diego. It would appear the Bishop eventually succeeded, and 

sometime in the 1950s the Franciscans made Santa Barbara their new dumping ground for 

Franciscan perpetrators. Begilming in the late 1950s the Franciscans began sending the first 

of at least twenty-six (26) Franciscan perpetrators to Santa Barbara following their expulsion 

from the Diocese. Those peIpetrators are identified below in the decades they first appeared 

and continued to reside in or visit Santa Barbara based on information known to date: 
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1 - Fr. Owen Da Silva (1930s) 
2 - Brother Berard Connolly (1940s, 1980s - 1990s) 
3 - Fr. Martin McKeon (1950s - 1960s) 
4 - Fr. Edward Henriques (1960s) 
5 - Fr. Mario Cinnnarrusti (1960s - 1970s) 
6 - Fr. Mel Bucher (1960s) 
7 - Fr. Forrest McDonald (1960s - 1970s) 
8 - Br. Kevin Dunne (1960s - 1970s) 
9 - Br. Sam Cabot (1960s-1980s) 
10 - Fr. Edmund Austin (1970s) 
11 - Fr. Gus Krunnn (1970s - 1980s) 
12 - Fr. Paul Conn (1970s - 1980s) 
13 - Fr. Dave Johnson (1970s - 1980s) 
14 - Fr. Joseph Prochnow (1970s - 1980s) 
15 - Br. Matteo Guerrero (1970s, 1990s - 2000s) 
16 - Fr. Robert Van Handel (1970s -1990s) 
17 - Fr. David Carriere (1970s - 2000s) 
18 - Fr. Steve Kain (1980s) 
19 - Fr. Philip Wolfe (1980s) 
20 - Pre-novItiate candidate Ed Byrom (1980s) 
21 - Pre-novitiate candidate Tom Thing (1980s) 
22 - Fr. Chris Berbena (1980s) 
23 - Fr. Remy Rudin (1980s - 1990s) 
24 - Br. Gerald Chumlk (2000s) 
25 - Pedro Vasquez (2000s) 
26 - Fr. Claude Riffel (1941-44, 1975-76) 
271 - Fr. Fr. Alexander Manville (1960-73). 

By the 1960s if not sooner these corrupt seeds planted by the Franciscans began bearing 

poisonous fruit as Franciscan perpetrators abused Santa Barbara children at a horrifying rate. 

At least eighty-five (85) children have been sexually abused in Santa Barbara by Roman 

Catholic priests or religious brothers since 1936. Sixty-two (62) of those children were 

abused by Franciscan priests or religious brothers since 1960. The confirmed number of 

victims and Franciscan perpetrators grows each year. 

The consequences of the Franciscans' continuing corporate practices with regards to 

Franciscan perpetrators have been disastrous both for local children, and for a society that 

continues to bear the financial burden of the psychological fallout for abuse survivors. Abuse 

I. This number does not include at least two (2) lay perpetrators the Franciscans allowed to sexually 
assault seminarians or boys choir members all the grounds ofS!. Anthony's among other locations. 
Specifically, during the 1970s S!. Anthony's faculty member Francisco Moreno sexually assaulted at least 
one student in Moreno's office, and invited an wlknown number of men from the community to assault the 
student as well. Additionally, in the 1980s perpetrator Fr. Robert Van Handel allowed and enabled his 
pedophilic friend, Gerald Heather, to sexually assault at least three members of the Santa Barbara Boys 
Choir. 
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1 survivors often engage in addictive, self-destructive, and, unfortunately, sometimes criminal 

2 behavior as they deal with the psychological scars caused by childhood sexual abuse. These 

3 behaviors in turn result in things such as divorce proceedings on court calendars, substance 

4 abuse, arrests, and incarcerations, all of which are paid for by the common taxpayer rather 

5 than by the truly culpable but tax-exempt organizations that protected the perpetrators. The 

6 evidence of the Franciscans' CUlpability in this regard is overwhelming. 

7 
THE FRANCISCANS' CONTINUING REFUSAL TO PUBLICLY IDENTIFY ALL 

8 OF THEIR CURRENT OR FORMER PEDOPHILIC MEMBERS HAS CREATED A 
DEADLY ENVIRONMENT FOR TODAY'S CHILDREN 

9 

10 7. Time and again the Franciscans have had the opportunity to end the cycle of abuse by 

11 reporting perpetrators to law enforcement, and by warning the general public when a 

12 Franciscan has been accused of sexually assaulting a child. Tragically, the Franciscans' 

13 ongoing efforts to protect their pedophilic members, and to protect the corporation's financial 

14 interests, establish a continuing pattern of conduct causing new harm to today's children, new 

15 trauma to adult survivors of Franciscan childhood sexual abuse, and causing the continuing 

16 financial burden to a society paying for the resulting psychological fallout. 

17 8. Since at least 1964 the Franciscans have known their perpetrators were sexually 

18 assaulting Santa Barbara children, and of the fact any child exposed to their agents was at a 

19 heightened risk of being sexually assaulted. Since at least 1964 the Franciscans have been 

20 concealing these crimes, and shielding their criminal members from discovery. Sadly, even 

21 with the global settlement of the 2003-2006 litigation, the Franciscans have not changed their 

22 ways. The following are examples only of some of the most recent known Franciscan 

23 conduct placing today's children at risk. These examples illustrate the Franciscans' conduct 

24 remains a present day threat to children wherever the Franciscans conduct their business: 

25 • In July of2003, th~ Franciscans assigned an admitted perpetrator - Father Gus 

26 Krumm - to a Sacramento parish next door to a school without any warning to the 

27 community. One Franciscan priest readily admitted he was aware of Father Krumm's prior 

28 abuses but did not think it was appropriate to share such infonnation with parishioners. 
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Despite the fact the Franciscans claimed Father Krumm was forbidden contact with young 

children, he did in fact have direct contact with young children while at this assignment. 

• In January 2004 it was revealed that the Franciscans had assigned perpetrator 

Brother Kevin Dunne to a Franciscan-run parish in Phoenix, Sf. Mary's Basilica. The 

Franciscans warned neither the parishioners nor the community of the risk Dunne posed, and 

the Phoenix community had no means of identifying Dunne as a perpetrator as - thanks to the 

Franciscans never having reported Dunne's crimes to law enforcement - he had never been 

prosecuted and is not a registered sex offender. Thus, the fact Dunne had raped at least one 

St. Anthony'S student, and the fact the Franciscans had settled a claim made by that student, 

was known only to the Franciscans. The parish manager stated the Franciscans had never 

advised him of Dunne's criminal conduct, and that "they probably should have." 

• In July 2004 the Franciscans admitted - albeit only after a reporter from the 

Dallas Morning News made the facts public - that yet another predator had been calling the 

Old Mission Santa Barbara home for over two years. Specifically, in the early to mid-1970's 

Franciscan Brother Gerald Chumik assaulted at least one victim in Canada. Canadian 

authorities attempted to prosecute Brother Chumik in the 1990s, but Chumik fled to the 

United States. The Franciscans successfully and secretly harbored Brother Chumik, a 

fugitive from justice, behind the walls of the Mission for over two years. The Franciscans 

provided no waming to the public, much less to neighboring schools, of the threat Brother 

Chumik posed nntil the Dallas Morning News published the truth about Chumik. 

• In July 2005, the Franciscan Vicar Provincial, Brother Tom West, admitted 

Mission resident, Franciscan Pedro Vasquez, had been accused of sexually assaulting a 

person West described as a "young man." The Franciscans had allowed Vasquez to live at 

the Mission for three years without any warning to the community, and admitted to this fact 

in July of2005 only when they knew its publication was inevitable. 

• In 2005, the former rector of St. Anthony's, Father Xavier Harris, testified that 

while he was assigned at S1. Williams in Los Altos in 2001, a well-known Franciscan 

perpetrator, Father Steve Kain, assisted there as well. Father Harris did not warn any of the 
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1 parishioners of Father Kain's propensities, nor, to his knowledge, did any other Franciscans 

2 warn any parishioners about Father Kain .. With no shortage of victims who were unaware of 

3 the risk he posed, Father Kain abused again. Father Harris testified that Father Kain was then 

4 forced to stop assisting at St. Williams due to the abuse allegations, and was transferred to St. 

5 Boniface in San Francisco. Once again, Father Harris testified he had no knowledge of any 

6 warnings to parishioners at St. Boniface regarding Father Kain's propensities. 

7 • In late 2006 a victim spoke with Father Virgil Cordano at the Mission and 

8 informed Cordano he had been raped in 1976 by a Franciscan religious brother, Brother 

9 Mateo Guererro. Cordano did not act surprised at this information, admitted there had been 

10 other complaints against Mateo, and admitted that Mateo had been transferred as a result. To 

11 date, the Franciscans have taken no steps to make this information public, no steps to 

12 determine whether there are any other victims of Mateo who have not come forward, no steps 

13 to notifY the communities in which Mateo has been assigned over the course of his career as a 

14 Franciscan, and no steps to wam the current community where Mateo is assigned. 

15 • From approximately 1994 to at least 2008 the Franciscans assigned another 

16 admitted perpetrator - Fr. Mel Bucher - to Old Mission San Luis Rey. Fr. Bucher sexually 

17 assaulted at least one adolescent boy in Oregon in the early 1970s. Despite this admission, 

18 the Franciscans allowed Fr. Bucher to manage the Mission San Luis Rey retreat center. The 

19 retreat center conducts retreats for, among others, high school-aged children, including 

20 overnight retreats for students from, among other locations, Mater Dei High School in Santa 

21 Ana. At least one current Franciscan and former Mater Dei faculty member has stated he 

22 would not discuss the allegations of abuse by Fr. Bucher with Mater Dei faculty or 

23 administrators because he does not "see any purpose being served in that." The Franciscans 

24 have never warned the families of these students ofFr. Bucher's history of abuse. 

25 • In February 2009, Father Claude Riffel was accused of sexually assaulting a 

26 boy at another Franciscan seminary, St. Francis Minor Seminary in Troutdale, Oregon, in the 

27 early 1960s. Riffel was dean of discipline for the school when he would call the teenager out 

28 of class on the pretext of assigning work and then abuse him. To date, the Franciscans have 
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1 taken no steps to make this information public, and no steps to determine whether there are 

2 any other victims of Riffel who have not come forward. The Franciscans also have taken no 

3 steps to notify the communities in which Riffel has been assigned during his career as a 

4 Franciscan, including but not limited to the Santa Barbara community where from 

5 approximately 1941-44, and again from 1975-76, Riffel was assigned to St. Anthony's and 

6 worked with boys the same age as those he is acc?sed of abusing at the seminary in Oregon. 

7 • In June 2009 Franciscan Father Alexander Manville was accused of the sexual 

8 abuse of an approximately eight-year-old boy in 1992-93. To date, the Franciscans have 

9 taken no steps to make this information public, and no steps to determine whether there are 

10 any other victims of Manville who have not come forward. The Franciscans also have taken 

11 no steps to notify the communities in which Manville has been assigned over the course of 

12 his career as a Franciscan, including but not limited to the Santa Barbara community where 

13 for approximately thirteen years, from 1960-73, Manville served on the faculty at Bishop 

14 Diego High School. 

15 Such action and inaction by the Franciscans has and will continue to produce 

16 disastrous results, as evidenced by the case of Fr. Louis Ladenburger. Ladenburger left the 

17 priesthood and the Franciscan order in 1996. However, early in his career as a Franciscan 

18 Ladenburger was treated for what former St. Anthony's rector and Franciscan Provincial 

19 Minister, Mel Jurisich, has described only as "inappropriate professional behavior and 

20 relationships." Such vague terms are standard procedure for the Franciscans when describing 

21 acts of childhood sexual abuse by their priests and religious brothers. After sending 

22 Ladenburger for treatment for his criminal conduct twice in the 1980s, the Franciscans 

23 allowed him to continue to work as a priest, including working at high schools. After another 

24 psychological review in 1993 the Franciscans were sufficiently concerned to restrict 

25 Ladenburger's ministry. However, at no time did the Franciscans repOIi Ladenburger's 

26 criminal acts to law enforcement. At no time did the Franciscans warn any families or 

27 communities where Ladenburger had worked or was working as a priest. As a result, when 

28 he left the priesthood nearly twenty-years after the Franciscans first learned of and began to 
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1 conceal the risk he posed to children, Ladenburger had never been convicted of a sex crime, 

2 was not a registered sex offender, and only the Franciscans were aware of his pedophilic 

3 propensities. An unknown number of children have been sexually assaulted by Ladenburger 

4 as a result. In May of 2007 Ladenburger was arrested for sexually assaulting several children 

5 in Idaho. 

6 When first contacted shortly after Ladenburger's arrest the Franciscans denied having 

7 any record of past abuses by Ladenburger. After this initial denial, Fr. Jurisich finally 

8 admitted to Ladenburger's sordid history, and the Franciscans' knowledge since the 1980s of 

9 the risk he posed to children. Ladenburger has since pleaded guilty to lewd conduct with two 

10 boarding school students, and on March 24, 2008, was sentenced to five years in prison. The 

11 sentencing judge, the Honorable John Luster, found Ladenburger's conduct so severe that he 

12 rejected a joint request by the prosecution and the defense of a suspended sentence. 

13 Ladenburger has admitted he is a sex addict. These latest victimS are further evidence of the 

14 continuing threat to all children posed by the Franciscans' refusal to warn the public of their 

15 current and former members who have been accused of sexual abuse. 

16 Four months after the Franciscans first denied then admitted they knew about the 

17 threat posed by Ladenburger, they were at it again. One would hope that after decades of 

18 Franciscan sexual abuse and cover-ups, at some point - perhaps, for instance, now that the 

19 number of confirmed Santa Barbara victims of Franciscan childhood sexual abuse has risen 

20 to sixty-three - the Franciscan hierarchy would finally reconsider the corporation's horribly 

21 flawed strategy of lying about and refusing to identifY Franciscan priests and brothers accused 

22 of sexual abuse. One would hope that after seeing today's children continuing to be 

23 victimized as a result of this failed corporate strategy they would finally recognize that for the 

24 sake of both past and future victims, it was time to tell the truth. However, as evidenced by 

25 their conduct toward survivor Maria Cunningham, the Franciscans have learned nothing from 

26 the sad events involving Ladenburger, much less from their sordid history. Instead, they 

27 continue to re-victimize survivors of Franciscan sexual abuse, to create new victims, and to 

28 increase the resulting financial burden on society, by continuing to lie, conceal and cover-up 
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1 the identities of Franciscans who pose a risk to children. 

2 In Maria's case, she contacted the Franciscans for help when she finally began to 

3 make tbe connection between her injuries and tbe abuse she suffered. Because of her young 

4 age at the time of the abuse, and the trauma she suffered during tbe abuse, she had been 

5 unable to recall the name of her Franciscan perpetrator. She infonned tbe Franciscans of her 

6 age at the time oftbe abuse (6 years old), of her perpetrator's grooming techniques (such as 

7 buying Maria candy), oftbe nature ofthe abuse (primarily digital penetration), ofthe fact her 

8 perpetrator often abused her while they sat under a blanket, and ofthe fact he appeared to 

9 come and go quite a lot and may not have lived at tbe Old Mission. She also infonned the 

10 Franciscans her perpetrator's name might be "Ed" or "Sam." In response, tbe Franciscan 

11 Vicar Provincial, Br. Tom West, infonned Maria in September 2007 and during a meeting in 

12 November 2007 tbat tbe Franciscans had been "unable to find [any possible Franciscan 

13 perpetrator] of either name." This response led Maria falsely to believe she was tbe only 

14 child abused by her perpetrator, tbus triggering new emotional distress, shame and self-

15 loatbing in Maria. As is all too common in many victims of childhood sexual abuse, she 

16 wondered what she had done wrong to make her tbe perpetrator's only target. Feeling 

17 horribly alone and ashamed after tbe meeting, Maria suffered through new injuries as a result 

18 of tbe Franciscans' supposed inability to identifY her perpetrator: a debilitating panic attack 

19 and migraine, and repeated vomiting tbroughout the night after the meeting witb Br. Tom. 

20 Thankfully, Maria was able to weather this attack witb tbe support of her family. However, 

21 for many survivors such a reaction frequently leads to depression, anger, self-medication and 

22 substance abuse, and extreme acting out, all of which often result iu the involvement of 

23 medical and/or law enforcement personnel. The costs of such services are then born by the 

24 general public. 

25 Unbeknownst to Maria at the time, this new trauma could have been avoided. The 

26 Franciscans and Br. Tom undoubtedly had, in fact, identified a possible Franciscan 

27 Perpetrator named Sam: Br. Sam Cabot. In 2006 both Br. Tom and the Franciscans' 

28 Provincial Minister, Fr. Jurisich, participated in multiple mediation sessions in Los Angeles 
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1 involving, among others, two victims ofBr. Sam. Br. Tom and Fr. Jurisich knew fTOm their 

2 involvement in those two claims that Br. Sam had sexually abused two young girls who, like 

3 Maria, were six years old during the periods of abuse; they knew that one ofBr. Sam's 

4 favorite grooming techniques, as with Maria, was to buy his victims candy; they knew that, as 

5 with Maria, Br. Sam's abuse consisted primarily of digital penetration; they knew Br. Sam 

6 used to abuse these two girls, as with Maria, as he sat with them under a blanket; and they 

7 knew that Br. Sam had continued to abuse both these young girls in Santa Barbara even 

8 while, as may have been the case with Maria, he was neither assigned nor living in Santa 

9 Barbara at the time. Despite his knowledge of these obvious parallels, Br. Tom denied any 

10 knowledge even of a possible Franciscan perpetrator named Sam. In fact, although during 

11 his November 2007 meeting with Maria Br. Tom acknowledged that these two young cousins 

12 had been abused by a Franciscan, he never disclosed to Maria the fact their perpetrator's 

13 name was "Sam." Nor did he disclose his awareness of another possible Franciscan 

14 perpetrator named "Ed," Fr. Edward Henriques, who also spent time in Santa Barbara during 

15 the period of abuse. 

16 Such Franciscan deception inevitably triggers further psychological fallout by victims 

17 who find the courage to come forward, and results in new victims such as those of Louis 

18 Ladenburger. Clearly, seeing yet another example in the Ladenburger case of the tragedy 

19 Franciscan deception and duplicity has wrought has done nothing to change Franciscan 

20 business practices when dealing with pedophilic priests and religious brothers. The 

21 Franciscans' first and only loyalty is to their corporation and its members, pedophilic or 

22 otherwise. As a result, both adult survivors of Franciscan childhood sexual abuse and today's 

23 children exposed to Franciscan perpetrators continue to be chewed up and spat out by the 

24 Franciscan corporate machine. And the number of past and present victims of this Franciscan 

25 corporate scheme continues to grow. 

26 Meanwhile, at least as recently as Spring 2007 the Franciscans allowed Br. Sam 

27 Cabot to work within half a mile of an elementary school in Los Angeles. A school that most 

28 likely is attended by numerous young girls the age ofBr. Sam's prior victims. A school, and 
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1 a community, that undoubtedly had no idea that a predator such as Br. Sam is within easy 

2 walking distance of their children. A predator who would be a registered sex offender had 

3 the Franciscans first reported him to law enforcement when they learned of his crimes. A 

4 predator who undoubtedly has many more victims in addition to those identified to date. 

5 

6 THE COMPELLING STATE INTEREST IN PREVENTING CHILDHOOD 
SEXUAL ABUSE 

7 

8 9. In 2004, when asked whether any Franciscan perpetrators were still in ministry, 

9 Franciscan. spokesman Brother John Kiesler refused to respond to that question and argued 

10 "[t]heir privacy has a right to be respected." Brother Kiesler's response graphically illustrates 

11 the Franciscan mindset that has created an actionable Public Nuisance. The Franciscans 

12 unequivocally and defiantly continue to place the interests of Franciscan perpetrators ahead 

13 of the welfare of today' s children. In addition to being revolting, the Franciscans' priorities 

14 are unsupportable under California law. To the extent Franciscan perpetrators retain any 

15 privacy interests, those interests are outweighed by the compelling state interest in preventing 

16 childhood sexual abuse. 

17 California courts and the state legislature have recognized, repeatedly, the compelling 

18 state interested in preventing childhood sexual abuse. Fredenburg v. Fremont, 119 

19 Cal.App.4th 408, 412-13 (2004) (discussing enactment and legislative history of Megan's 

20 Law); Burt v. County of Orange, 120 Cal.App.4th 273,285 (2004) ("concerns with protecting 

21 children from harm is a compelling interest supporting its efforts in gathering information 

22 and filing reports concerning persons suspected of child abuse"); Roe v.Superior Court, 229 

23 Cal.App.3d 832, 838 (1991) (recognizing the state's compelling interest in protecting children 

24 from abuse); People v. Gonzalez, 81 Cal.App.3d 274, 277 (1978) (recognizing compelling 

25 state interest in the protection of children from sexual molestation); People v. Mills, 81 Cal. 

26 App.3d 171, 181 (1978) (person who sexually assaults a child has waived his right to 

27 privacy). However, for decades the Franciscans have successfully frustrated law enforcement 

28 efforts to enforce this compelling state interest, shielding Franciscan perpetrators from 
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1 criminal prosecution. Time and again the Franciscans' efforts have helped such criminals 

2 escape prosecution by concealing their crimes until the expiration of the applicable criminal 

3 statutes oflimitation. 

4 One of the ways the Franciscans have helped their perpetrators escape prosecution 

5 and registration is by instructing their members not to inform law enforcement of complaints 

6 of abuse by Franciscans. Beginning at least as early as 1993, the Franciscans' Provincial 

7 Minister met with each Franciscan community and instructed them on the procedure 

8 regarding reporting allegations of sexual abuse. Those instructions required Franciscans who 

9 suspected or received complaints of acts of childhood sexual abuse to report them only to the 

10 Guardian of the local Franciscan community. The expectation was that the Guardian would 

11 then tell the Provincial Minister. According to the Provincial's instructions, individual 

12 Franciscans were not to report to law enforcement, and the decision as to whether there 

13 would be a report to law enforcement was left entirely to the Provincial. 

14 

15 The Franciscans' Abuse of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution to Protect 

16 Franciscan Perpetrators from Criminal Prosecution 

17 9.1 Even worse, the Franciscans now are exploiting the religious freedoms protection 

18 provided by the First Amendment in order to avoid their obligations as mandatory reporters 

19 under Penal Code section 11166. In July of 2009 a former parishioner at the Franciscan 

20 parish in Orange County, St. Simon and Jude, reported the Franciscans' latest child-

21 endangering ploy. That parishioner met with Franciscan Father Michael Harvey at his parish 

22 in 2008. When the parishioner stated he wished to discuss notorious Franciscan perpetrator 

23 Father Gus Krumm, Father Harvey's response was immediate and premeditated: before the 

24 parishioner could say anything further about Krumm, Harvey insisted that any discussion 

25 regarding Krumm be in the context of the confessional, thus rendering the communication 

26 penitential. 

27 Under Penal Code section 11166(c)(l), clergy can avoid their obligations to notifY 

28 law enforcement of reports of childhood sexual abuse if their knowledge or suspicion is 
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1 acquired in the context of a penitential communication. Thus, by insisting the parishioner 

2 make any disclosure regarding Krumm as a penitential communication, Father Harvey 

3 insured he would have no reporting obligation under section 11166 in the event of a report of 

4 childhood sexual abuse. The legislature could not have intended section 11166( c) to be used 

5 as a shield by entities that protect perpetrators of childhood sexual abuse, but that is exactly 

6 what Father Harvey and the Franciscans have accomplished by insisting that any reports of 

7 misconduct by Franciscans be made in the context of penitential communications. In so 

8 doing the Franciscans have turned the Constitution on its head, using First Amendment 

9 protections to shield Franciscan perpetrators from law enforcement and to make the world a 

10 much more dangerous place for children. 

11 As a result of such efforts by the Franciscans efforts to protect their predatory 

12 members, very few ofthese men have been prosecuted, convicted, and forced to register as 

13 sex offenders. Thus, the Franciscans have successfully concealed the identities of an 

14 unknown number of Franciscan perpetrators. 

15 As evidenced by their efforts to escape their reporting obligations, by the recent 

16 victims in the Ladenburger case, and by the continuing pattern of deceit evidenced by the 

17 Franciscans' conduct towards Maria, the clergy-abuse crisis has not been abated by the 2006 

18 Franciscan litigation. To the contrary, it is business as usual at Franciscan corporate 

19 headquarters. For this reason, the legal system camlot sit back and wait for current or former 

20 Franciscan perpetrators such as Ladenburger to reveal themselves through new victims. The 

21 ongoing lies, deceit, and concealment by the Franciscans mandate proactive efforts to save 

22 today's children from new abuse like that suffered by Ladenburger's recent victims. The 

23 public needs to know where Br. Cabot is currently working, particularly when he is less than 

24 half a mile away from an elementary school. They need to know about the abuse committed 

25 by Br. Matteo, and where he is currently assigned or in residence. They need to know about 

26 Fr. Bucher's history of abuse, particularly where he is allowed to conduct or have access to 

27 retreats for adolescents. And they need to know about every other current or fonner 

28 Franciscan who, like Ladenburger until he was caught sexually abusing more children in 
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1 2007, have been accused of childhood sexual abuse but have not yet been identified? 

2 It is an abomination that of the twenty-seven (27) Franciscan petpetrators who have 

3 lived in Santa Barbara since 1936, only two have been criminally prosecuted in Santa Barbara 

4 County. The sad reality is the criminal courts' hands have been tied by the Franciscans' 

5 successful efforts to conceal Franciscan criminal acts until the applicable statutes of 

6 limitation have expired. As a result, absent immediate action by the civil courts, today's 

7 children will continue to be victimized by Franciscan perpetrators throughout the Western 

8 United States at the numerous locations where the Franciscans of the Province ofSt. Barbara 

9 conduct their business. Pursuant to the compelling state interest in preventing acts of future 

10 childhood sexual abuse, the Franciscans must be ordered to disclose immediately the 

11 identities, histories of abuse, and last known locations of all current and former Franciscans 

12 accused of childhood sexual abuse while they were members of the order. They also must be 

13 ordered not to insist that reports of misconduct by Franciscans be made only in the context of 

14 a penitential communication. 

15 

16 DEFENDANTS' OPPORTUNITIES TO PREVENT TIlE ABUSE OF CRAIG 

17 

18 Notice to Defendants of the Threat Posed by Johnson and Krumm Before and During 

19 their Abuse of Craig. and of the Threat Posed by Allowing Franciscans With No 

20 Medical Training to Conduct Physical Exams of Students 

21 9.2 Defendants knew or should have known of the risk posed by Johnson and Krumm 

22 before and - in the case of Johnson - during their assaults against Craig. They also knew it 

23 was both highly inappropriate and dangerous to allow Franciscan faculty members with no 

24 medical training to conduct physical examinations of students. 

25 With regards to Johnson, his assault against Craig was observed if not outright 

26 

27 

28 

2. In a June 19,2008, article in the Santa Barbara Independent the Franciscans admit to knowledge of 
twenty-seven (27) Franciscan perpetrators but, again, provide no infomlation regarding their identies, 
assigmnent histories, or propensities. 
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1 participated in by at least one other Franciscan. Thus, Defendants could have stopped 

2 Johnson's assault while it was in progress. 

3 As to Krumm, long before the Franciscans assigned him to St. Anthony's he and 

4 another notorious Franciscan perpetrator, Father Philip Wolfe, contracted the sexually 

5 transmitted disease known as "crabs" while doing field work as novices (training to become 

6 Franciscans). The source of the crabs were adolescent boys Wolfe and Krumm encountered 

7 who, according to Krumm, were willing to do anything for money. And according to 

8 Krumm, Wolfe contracted not only crabs but other sexually transmitted diseases from these 

9 adolescent boys, prompting Wolfe's and Krumm's novice master (also a Franciscan) to 

10 lecture both men angrily and repeatedly with regards to the sexual promiscuity with these 

11 boys that resulted in Wolfe and Krumm contracting crabs. Thus, long before the Franciscans 

12 hired Krumm and Wolfe and assigned them to work at St. Anthony's, the Franciscans knew 

13 both Perpetrators had been sexually involved with adolescent boys. Despite this knowledge 

14 the Franciscans assigned both Perpetrators to work with adolescent boys,.including Craig, 

15 doing nothing to stop the contact or to warn Craig. 

16 Finally, with regards to physical examinations of students, during either the 1964-65 

17 or 1965-66 school year, the Franciscans not only authorized such examinations but 

18 authorized them by Father Mario Cimmarrusti -a man with no medical training who was one 

19 of the most prolific Franciscan perpetrators in the history of this scandal .. Cimmarrusti had 

20 expressed "concern" during a faculty meeting that some students appeared not to be 

21 developing normally, and had undescended testicles. No Franciscan questioned how 

22 Cimmarrusti gained such knowledge. Cimmarrusti then told the faculty, including Fr. Harris, 

23 that other signs a student was not developing nornlally included undeveloped sexual organs, 

24 lack of pubic hair, softness or femininity, or no changes to a student's voice. He then 

25 proposed a program to the faculty wherein he would perform an initial assessment of 

26 fTeshmen students to determine if they were exhibiting any of these so called signs. Despite 

27 the fact Cimmarrusti had no medical training, the fact the rector (who had worked at other 

28 high schools prior to St. Anthony's) had never heard of such a program, and the fact St. 
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1 Anthony's applicants were required to submit proof of a complete physical exam by an actual 

2 physician, the St. Anthony's Franciscan faculty, including rector Father Xavier Harris, 

3 approved this program. Even worse, they approved the program without any understanding 

4 as to how Cimmarrusti would perform these so-called "assessments." The Franciscans' 

5 uninformed consent in this regard was especially egregious given that the initial assessment 

6 proposed by Cimmarrusti included factors which by necessity required assessing each 

7 student's testicles and pubic hair. Thus, Cimmarrusti's Franciscan-sanctioned sexual assaults 

8 of new seminarians commenced, and by at least 1966 the Franciscans began receiving reports 

9 that Cimmarrusti was sexually abusing students during these supposed examinations. A 

10 number of future Franciscan perpetrators - including Van Handel, Johnson and Krumm-

11 were St. Anthony's students while Cimmarrusti was committing his Franciscan-sanctioned 

12 assaults. At least one of them - Van Handel- continued Cimmarrusti's tradition and was 

13 present at the start of a similar assault against Craig fifteen years after the Franciscans first 

14 approved Cimmarrusti's supposed program. 

15 

16 The Resulting Abuse of Craig Clover 

17 10. Plaintiff Craig Clover was raised Roman Catholic in Phoenix, Arizona. He attended a 

18 Catholic school and served as an altar boy at his parish, St. Catherine of Siena. As a result of 

19 this upbringing he viewed Roman Catholic priests with great respect and reverence, and 

20 considered them to be the voice of God. 

21 Unfortunately, Craig's home life was nightmarish, due in large part to an abusive 

22 stepfather who beat Craig so badly that Child Protective Services was called to investigate on 

23 at least one occasion, and on more than one occasion caused Craig sufficient injury to 

24 necessitate a trip to the hospital for stitches. As a result, Craig often viewed his school and 

25 parish as a sanctuary and safe-haven away from his abusive home life. Sadly, this 

26 background made Craig a prime candidate for abuse by Defendants' predatory agents. 

27 During Craig'S 8th Grade year at St. Catherine the students were invited to attend a 

28 presentation by the Franciscans. At the presentation Craig leamed about St. Anthony's and 
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1 was invited to take a trip to Santa Barbara and tour the seminary. Craig seized the 

2 opportunity to escape his abusive home life. He obtained a letter of recommendation from 

3 his beloved parish priest in Phoenix and subsequently applied, was admitted to, and began 

4 attending St. Anthony's in August of 1979. 

5 

6 The Assault During a Purported Physical Examination in the School Infirmary 

7 Although initially thrilled to be so far away from his abusive home, the situation for 

8 Craig at St. Anthony's degenerated quickly. Specifically, within a month or two of school 

9 starting Craig was called to the infirmary. Upon arriving Craig observed notorious 

10 perpetrator Father Robert Van Handel sitting near an infimlary bed, along with another 

11 Franciscan he did not recognize. Van Handel then informed Craig he was there "for a check-

12 up." Unbeknownst to Craig, this was a fraudulent misrepresentation as the Franciscans have 

13 never had any agents qualified to conduct medical exams, much less any such agents assigned 

14 to St. Anthony's. To the contrary, when a serious medical problem arose with a student, the 

15 Franciscans either called Paul Munch MD, or took the ill student to the hospital. 

16 Unfortunately Craig had no knowledge of this fraud as the Franciscans had never 

17 notified law enforcement, parents or the community that physical exams of students by men 

18 with no medical training had been approved by the Franciscans almost two decades earlier, 

19 and had been utilized to abuse numerous students since then. Craig also had been raised to 

20 trust priests and follow their every instruction. Consequently, Craig believed Van Handel's 

21 fraudulent misrepresentation, and when the second Franciscan told Craig where to stand and 

22 to drop his pants, Craig complied without question. The man then approached Craig, 

23 grabbed his (Craig'S) testicles, and instructed Craig to turn his head to cough as ifhe was 

24 conducting some sort of hernia exam. This ploy was utilized repeatedly during sexual 

25 assaults by Father Cimmarrusti, the abuser of at least twenty-three (23) St. Anthony's 

26 students in the 1960s. 

27 The Franciscan then told Craig he had to perform another purported test, and without 

28 any further explanation instructed Craig to bend over the infirmary bed. When Craig again 
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1 complied without question, the Franciscan proceeded to digitally penetrate the shocked boy 

2 rectally. When the supposed exam was finished Craig felt embarrassed and ashamed, and 

3 confused as to why he felt this way. However, he still gave no thought to questioning the 

4 Franciscan as, in Craig's mind at that time, Catholic priests were incapable of any wrongful 

5 conduct and were beyond reproach. 

6 

7 The Assault by Dave Johnson 

8 Also during his first semester at St. Anthony's Craig was subjected to another sexual 

9 assault by two Franciscans, then religious brother and future priest Dave Johnson and one 

10 other Franciscan who Craig was unable to identiJY other than by his garb. However, there 

11 was no "check-up" charade this time. Instead it was a physically violent and terrifying 

12 assault involving Johnson's forcible rape of Craig with a foreign object. Craig was walking 

13 down the hail one evening after dinner having just finished kitchen duty. Another student 

14 told him he needed to go to Johnson's office, and Craig did so without question, knocking on 

15 the closed office door. Johnson told him to come in and immediately instructed Craig to take 

16 all his clothes off and get down on his knees. Shocked at the instruction and sensing 

17 something was horribly wrong, Craig panicked and began crying. Johnson then angrily said 

18 something to the effect of "I told you to take your clothes/pants off," walked behind Craig 

19 and violently tackled or pushed Craig into the ground, simultaneously grabbing Craig'S hair 

20 and shoving Craig'S face into the carpet. The door then opened and two more people entered, 

21 an adult dressed in Franciscan garb, and a student. However, he did not get a good look at 

22 them as Johnson was straddling his upper back. Craig heard the door being closed 

23 immediately after they entered, heard Johnson say "grab his pants," and then felt hands 

24 pulling his pants off. To Craig's horror, he then heard Johnson say "and the underwear." 

25 Utterly panicked and terrified Craig continued crying, struggled to no avail, and began 

26 pleading with Johnson "please don't do this, what did I do?" Now naked from the waist 

27 down, and feeling as if someone was lying on him at a 45 degree angle holding him on the 

28 ground so that his bare buttocks were exposed, Craig heard Johnson yelling at him, saying 
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1 "now it is my tum." Craig then began to feel something that felt like a big wooden stick first 

2 being poked and prodded between his buttocks, and then being pushed against his anus. 

3 Craig now recalls at this point going into another state of mind, dissociating himself from the 

4 violent sexual assault. He prayed to God not to let this happen, while hearing himself crying 

5 and sobbing, and still pleading with Johnson to stop. As the assault continued Craig stopped 

6 struggling and submitted, having learned from past experiences that this was sometimes the 

7 best way of ending an assault. 

8 Craig may have blacked out and recalls regaining a semblance of consciousness or 

9 awareness of the sound of Johnson and at least one other person in the room laughing. He 

10 felt people get off of his now limp body, and then either stood or was pulled up and pulled his 

11 pants up. He recalls seeing the student standing in the comer with a coat rack that may have 

12 been the foreign object used by Johnson during the assault. He also saw the second man 

13 standing over him, and recognizing the man was wearing the brown robes worn by 

14 Franciscans. Johnson then told Craig to keep his mouth shut about the assault or he would 

15 make matters worse. Craig fled the room. 

16 

17 The Assault by Gus Krumm 

18 Unfortunately, as the school year came to a close yet another notorious perpetrator 

19 and faculty member, then religious brother and future priest Gus Krumm, inflicted another 

20 violent sexual assault on Craig. Specifically, one night as Craig walked down a seminary 

21 hallway he passed by Krumm's office and heard what sounded like grunts or groans coming 

22 from inside. As the front office door was open, Craig entered and asked if everything was ok. 

23 Krumm emerged from his bedroom shortly thereafter; Krumm appeared to be sweating and 

24 smelled bad, and looked disheveled wearing only Corduroy shorts and a gray t-shirt. Krumm 

25 angrily asked what Craig was doing in his office, and Craig explained he had heard strange 

26 noises and thought someone needed help. This enraged Krulfun who proceeded to grab 

27 Craig, spin him around, and drive Craig forcefully into the office wall. Krumm then piuned 

28 Craig from behind to the point the boy could not move, pushing Craig's face against the wall. 
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1 Krumm then began thrusting his groin against Craig's buttocks, placed his mouth next to 

2 Craig's ear, and reached around and grabbed the terrified and immobilized boy's genitals, 

3 squeezing them tightly to the point Craig was in so much pain he began to cry. Eventually 

4 Krumm said something to the effect of "you didn't see anything here, you didn't hear 

5 anything, and you're not wanted. And you're probably not coming back." Craig was so 

6 terrified and in such pain he agreed immediately. Krumm then released Craig's genitals and 

7 shoved the still crying boy out of the office. 

8 10.1 The sexual abuse and exploitation of Craig and the circumstances under which it 

9 occurred caused Craig to develop various psychological coping mechanisms which 

10 reasonably made him incapable of ascertaining the resulting damages from that conduct. 

11 Within three years of filing his lawsuit, Craig discovered or reasonably should have 

12 discovered that psychological i~ury or illness occurring after the age of majority was caused 

13 by the sexual abuse. 

14 When Craig first arrived at St. Anthony's he felt tremendously relieved to be away 

15 from his abusive home-life. Catholic schools and parishes had long been his sanctuary, and 

16 St. Anthony's felt particularly safe as it was located far away from his stepfather in another 

17 state. As a result, his initial sense of relief was overwhelming, almost to the point of 

18 euphoria. 

19 The Perpetrators, acting as managing agents of the Defendants, utilized the trust and 

20 reverence inherent in their status as a Franciscans to isolate and abuse Craig. Craig was 

21 raised in a devout Roman Catholic family that idolized priests, was taught by Defendants to 

22 trust, revere and obey priests as God's representatives on earth, and had long viewed priests 

23 as the caretakers of his sanctuary from an abusive home-life. The Perpetrators exploited 

24 Craig's hope of having been rescued from his abusive home-life and also utilized Craig'S 

25 trust and resulting vulnerability and deference to priests to manipulate Craig, who was 

26 approximately fourteen (14) and fifteen (15) years of age during the period of abuse. 

27 One of the manipulations resulted in Craig'S abuse in the infirmary during the 

28 purported physical exam. When Craig was instructed to go to the infirmary he did as he was 
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1 told. Once there, Father VanHandel fraudulently infonned Craig before the assault that 

2 Craig was there for a "check-up" to be perfonned by the Perpetrator. The Perpetrator then 

3 fraudulently infonned Craig he had to conduct a "test" on Craig. This use of what on its face 

4 appeared to be a legitimate medical purpose, while in the school infinnary, coupled with Van 

5 Handel's and the Perpetrator's trusted status as Franciscans, inhibited Craig's awareness of 

6 the wrongfulness of this conduct until recently. Van Handel and the Perpetrator thus 

7 exploited Craig's having been raised in the Catholic church, as well as Craig's desperate need 

8 to feel he was finally safe, and fraudulently induced Craig to believe he had been called to the 

9 infinnary for a legitimate medical purpose. Consequently, while sensing something was 

10 wrong Craig could not comprehend why he felt ashamed and embarrassed after the supposed 

11 exams, and was unable to appreciate the wrongfulness of the conduct until recently, within 

12 the last three years. Specifically, it was not until after he began recovering his memories of 

13 the abuse by Johnson and Krumm that he first sought out and read other accounts of St. 

14 Anthony's students who were sexually abused. It was <luring this time that he first learned 

15 that many students had been abused during fraudulent physical examinations conducted by 

16 Franciscan perpetrators. Only after reading these accounts did he begin to suspect Van 

17 Handel's and the Perpetrator's statements were fraudulent, and had been utilized by the two 

18 Franciscans to make him vulnerable to the abuse by the Perpetrator. Until then, Van 

19 Handel's and the Perpetrator's fraud, coupled with Craig'S inherent trust in the words ofthe 

20 priests and his desperate need to believe he was finally somewhere safe, resulted in 

21 psychological blocking mechanisms that prevented Craig from facing and realizing the 

22 Perpetrator's conduct in the infinnary was wrongful and had caused him injury. 

23 With regards to the assaults by Johnson and Krumm, shortly after the assault by 

24 Krumm, Craig returned to Phoenix for the summer. Initially Craig was hopeful things had 

25 changed at home, but the abuse there continued soon after his return. Feeling trapped 

26 between two terrifYing choices - physical abuse at home in Phoenix versus physical and 

27 sexual abuse at St. Anthony's - Craig turned for help to the only remaining person and place 

28 he felt he could trust, one of the priests at his home parish. That priest had always been 
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1 supportive of Craig in the past, helping him gain admission to St. Anthony's. As a result, he 

2 was the only remaining person Craig felt he could speak honestly to about St. Anthony's. 

3 Craig hoped that priest would be able to refer him (Craig) and help him gain admission to 

4 another school outside of Phoenix, one without the horrors to which he had been subjected at 

5 St. Anthony's. 

6 Much to Craig's dismay when he went to the parish he was unable to find his 

7 perceived savior, instead encountering Father Thomas O'Brien, a priest who would go on to 

8 become the Bishop of the Diocese of Phoenix. O'Brien told Craig that the former priest was 

9 no longer assigned to the parish, a statement that left Craig feeling utterly alone, and 

10 desperate for anyone he could turn to for help, trust, and support. As a result, when O'Brien 

11 asked ifhe could help, Craig seized on the offer and followed O'Brien back to his office. 

12 Although not entirely comfortable with O'Brien, Craig was beyond desperate, seeing his 

13 church, and O'Brien as its representative, as his last hope of escaping the horrific realities at 

14 home and at St. Anthony's. 

15 In his efforts to persuade 0 'Brien to help him Craig told 0 'Brien about the abuse at 

16 home. After O'Brien learned Craig had attended St. Anthony's for his freshman year of high 

17 school, O'Brien wanted to know why Craig was not planning on returning for his sophomore 

18 year. Initially, Craig simply said things had happened. O'Brien pressed for details, and Craig 

19 eventually described the assaults by Krumm and Johnson in detail, not realizing the purported 

20 medical exanl was an assault as well. O'Brien became quiet when Craig finished, and 

21 appeared to be contemplating what Craig had said. Eventually, O'Brien asked what Craig 

22 proposed he could do to help. Craig said he would really like to be able to go to another 

23 school where he would not face the priests - Craig did not understand the difference between 

24 priests and religious brothers such as Krumm and Johnson - who had assaulted him at St. 

25 Anthony's. O'Brien's response was to tell Craig to let him see what he (O'Brien) could do, 

26 saying he would have to make some calls and talk to some people. Craig felt hopeful that 

27 O'Brien would save him, and even showed O'Brien photographs at the end of the meeting of 

28 Krumm and Jolmson from his yearbook. O'Brien in turn asked to hold on to the yearbook 
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1 until they met again, telling Craig to return 2 or 3 days later. Because O'Brien had appeared 

2 kind and supportive up to that point, and because of his deep-rooted trust and faith in priests, 

3 Craig was convinced O'Brien would take some action to help him. In fact, he was very 

4 hopeful and excited to go back and see O'Brien. 

5 Unfortunately, Craig had placed his faith and hope in a man who ultimately would be 

6 proven to be a complete ethical and moral failure both as a priest and as a human being. In 

7 June 2003, then Bishop O'Brien entered into a settlement with a Maricopa County prosecutor 

8 that made it clear 0 'Brien was the last person the young boy should have looked to for help 

9 in reporting Franciscans who sexually abused children. The grand jury investigation that 

10 ultimately led to O'Brien's settlement in exchange for immunity revealed that, among other 

11 things, in 1979 O'Brien had received reports of the abuse of a ten year-old boy by another 

12 priest, and that instead of reporting the priest to law enforcement or warning parents, O'Brien 

13 transferred the priest to another parish where the priest continued to abuse children. 

14 Specifically, in exchange for immunity from prosecution for his actions O'Brien admitted 

15 that beginning at least as early as 1979 and throughout his 22-year career as a bishop he 

16 repeatedly placed children at risk to be sexually abused by transferring known perpetrator 

17 priests to new parishes without any warning to the parish or the community. Further 

18 evidence of O'Brien's moral depravity came within weeks ofthis agreement on June 16, 

19 2003, when O'Brien was arrested for felony hit and run after the vehicle he was driving 

20 struck and killed a six-fOot tall, 235 lb. man. Despite the size of the victim and the fact the 

21 impact had caved in O'Brien's windshield, O'Brien claimed he thought someone had thrown 

22 a rock at his car, or that he had struck an animal. O'Brien was convicted of the felony in 

23 February 2004. 

24 Craig, of course, was ignorant of O'Brien's conduct, knowing only that the man was a 

25 priest and believing accordingly that he was both trustworthy and had Craig's best interests at 

26 heart. As a result, the year after O'Brien is known to have begun placing the interests of 

27 perpetrator priests before the welfare of children, Craig placed his faith and trust in O'Brien 

28 in reporting the sexual assaults by Johnson and Krumm. Unfortunately but not surprisingly, 
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1 O'Brien's response to Craig was consistent with his conduct uncovered by the grand jury in 

2 2003 of defending perpetrator priests and attacking their victims. 

3 As O'Brien had suggested, Craig returned two days after their first meeting only to 

4 find O'Brien was not there. Craig left a message for O'Brien indicating he would return the 

5 next day. However, when Craig returned the next day, a Friday, O'Brien again was 

6 unavailable. 

7 The following Monday Craig returned to the rectory. This time O'Brien was there, 

8 and it quickly became apparent he wanted nothing to do with Craig. O'Brien appeared 

9 evasive, avoiding eye contact, and even tried to walk through the rectory office as if he had 

10 not seen Craig. The young boy's desperation emboldened Craig enough to plead with 

11 O'Brien to talk to him about the reqilest for help. O'Brien, appearing frustrated, asked Craig 

12 to give him a few minutes, and about 20-30 minutes later walked out to call Craig baek to his 

13 office. 

14 O'Brien's demeanor had changed dramatically from their first meeting, with O'Brien 

15 now appearing and sounding agitated, cold, and abrupt. He asked Craig if he knew Father 

16 Mel Jurisich, St. Anthony's rector, and then declared he had spoken to Father Jurisieh about 

17 Craig's reports of abuse by Johnson and Krumm. After pausing, a now clearly angry O'Brien 

18 verbally attacked Craig, telling Craig that based on his (O'Brien's) discussion with Father 

19 Jurisich, Craig's allegations were not only untrue, they were "preposterous." As Craig sat in 

20 shocked silence O'Brien continued his attack aceusing Craig of slandering good priests who 

21 were trying to help people. Overwhelmed by a feeling of complete hopelessness as the last 

22 man and last institution he felt he could tum to not only abandoned but in fact attacked him, 

23 Craig realized he was trapped .and broke down in tears. O'Brien was unmoved. Mercilessly 

24 ignoring Craig's distress O'Brien continued his verbal attack on the boy, telling Craig that 

25 not only were his complaints about Johnson and Krumm untrue, they rendered Craig a liar. 

26 O'Brien then asked Craig ifhe realized it was a mortal sin to lie to a priest. In addition to 

27 being emotionally distressed at the thought of having no options other than staying at home 

28 or returning to St. Anthony'S, Craig's distress was further exacerbated by the realization that 
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1 O'Brien now considered Craig the villain for reporting the abuse by Johnson and Krumm. 

2 Bewildered and terrified, Craig mustered the courage to say he knew lying to a priest was a 

3 mortal sin, but that he was not lying. O'Brien again was wunoved, and Craig desperately 

4 asked ifnot begged O'Brien to help him find another school outside of the Phoenix area. 

5 O'Brien's only response was dismissive, telling Craig that was something he would have to 

6 work out with his parents. 

7 By the end of the meeting with O'Brien, Craig felt doomed, as if his life was at a dead 

8 end and he had nowhere to go, his last hope and safe-haven ripped away from him by 

9 O'Brien. As a result, he shut down, withdrew emotionally, and disconnected as completely 

10 as he could from the reality of his life. This withdrawal included the complete repression of 

11 his memories of the abuse at St. Anthony's, the worst of the abusive enviromnents he had 

12 lived in because Johnson and Krumm had incorporated violent sexual assaults into physical 

13 violence like that he experienced at home. 

14 Craig walked out of the rectory in a daze, feeling hopeless and shocked that a leader 

15 of the church he had been taught would always be there for him had not only turned its back 

16 on but had attacked him for reporting Johnson's and Krumm's criminal conduct. He now 

17 recalls leaving the parish and stepping on a bus going the opposite direction from where he 

18 lived, ultimately spending the night in a park, feeling devastated and lost. Countless days of 

19 extreme introversion and walking around in silence, emotionally shut down and unable to 

20 face the reality of his life, would follow. It was not until July of 2006 that Craig began to 

21 recover the repressed St. Anthony's memories sometime after an unexpected encounter with 

22 Johnson, or at least a man who looked like Johnson. In the weeks that followed that 

23 encounter Craig suffered through numerous inexplicable sleepless nights. Finally, after one 

24 particularly fitful night of disturbing dreams, Craig awoke to the shocking realization he had 

25 begun recovering memories of the abuse by Johnson and Krumm. And it was not until 

26 sometime after he began recovering these memories that Craig first realized the abuse had 

27 caused him injury. He also began for the first time to understand his own feelings 

28 surrounding the abuse, how the abuse has affected him, and how it continues to affect him. 
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16 

17 

Craig's repression also rendered him unable to recognize the wrongfulness of 

Johnson's and Krumm's conduct, and further resulted in Craig internalizing feelings of 

shame, self-blame, and self-loathing. Blocking out and dissociating from those feelings 

rendered Craig unable to perceive the injuries he suffered from the abusive conduct and its 

effect on his life. 

II. As a direct result of the wrongful conduct alleged herein, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical 

manifestations of emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, 

humiliation, and loss of enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continue to suffer spiritually; was 

prevented and will continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and 

obtaining the full enjoyment oflife; has sustained and continue to sustain loss of earnings and 

earning capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

PUBLIC NUISANCE 

(Against The Defendants) 

18 12. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

19 forth herein. 

20 13. Defendants continue to conspire and engage in efforts to: 1) conceal from the general 

21 public the sexual assaults committed by, the identities of, and the pedophilic/ephebophilic 

22 tendencies of, the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic agents; 2) attack the 

23 credibility of the victims of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic/ephebophilic 

24 agents; 3) protect the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic/ephebophilic current and 

25 forruer agents from criminal prosecution and registration as sex offenders for their sexual 

26 assaults against children; and 4) exploit and abuse the protection for religious freedom 

27 provided by the I st Amendment to the U.S. Constitution for the purpose of escaping their 

28 obligation to report childhood sexual abuse under California Penal Code section 11166, all in 
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1 violation of law. 

2 14. . The negligence and/or deception and concealment by Defendants was and is injurious 

3 to the health of, indecent or offensive to the senses of, and an obstruction to the free use of 

4 property by, the general public, including but not limited to residents of the County of Santa 

5 Barbara and all other members of the general public who live in communities where 

6 Defendants conducted, and continue to conduct, their work and/or ministry, and was and is 

7 indecent and offensive to the senses, so as to interfere with the general public's comfortable 

8 enjoyment of life in that children cannot be left unsupervised in any location where 

9 Defendants' agents are present as the general public cannot trust Defendants to prohibit their 

10 pedophilic agents from supervising, caring for, or having any contact with children, nor to 

11 warn parents of the presence of the pedophilic agents of Defendants, nor to identifY their 

12 pedophilic agents, nor to identify and/or report to law enforcement their agents accused of 

13 childhood sexual abuse, thus creating an impairment of the safety of children in the 

14 neighborhoods where Defendants conducted, and continue to conduct, their work and/or 

15 ministries. 

16 Defendants' conduct has caused further injury to the public and severely impaired the 

17 safety of children where Defendants have protected and concealed the Perpetrators and 

18 Defendants' other pedophilic/ephebophilic agents from criminal prosecution and registration 

19 as sex offenders for their sexual assaults, where the Perpetrators and/or Defendants' other 

20 pedophilic/ephebophilic agents subsequently have left Defendants' employ, and where 

21 Defendants have disavowed any responsibility for the Perpetrators and/or Defendants' other 

22 pedophilic/ephebophilic former agents despite the fact Defendants facilitated these former 

23 agents' avoiding criminal prosecution and having to register as sex offenders. As a result of 

24 Defendants' conduct, when Defendants' former agents have sought employment placing them 

25 in positions of trust with children, Defendants are the only ones aware ofthe risk posed by 

26 these former agents, and potential employers, childcare custodians, and parents have no 

27 means of identifying the risk to their children posed by such men. Today's children continue 

28 to be put at risk and abused under these circumstances by Defendants' former agents, at least 
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1 as recently as 2007. 

2 15. The negligence and/or deception and concealment by Defendants was specially 

3 injurious to Plaintiff's health as he and his family were unaware of the danger posed to 

4 children left unsupervised with agents of Defendants, and as a result of this deception, 

5 Plaintiff was placed in the custody and control of the Perpetrators, agents of Defendants, who 

6 subsequently sexually assaulted Plaintiff. 

7 16. The continuing public nuisance created by Defendants was, and continues to be, the 

8 proximate cause of the injuries and damages to the general public alleged in paragraph 14, 

9 and of Plaintiff's special injuries and damages as alleged in paragraph 15. 

10 17. In doing the aforementioned acts, Defendants acted negligently and/or intentionally, 

11 maliciously and with conscious disregard for Plaintiff's rights. 

12 18. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

13 suffer special injury in that they suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional 

14 distress, physical manifestations of emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, 

15 disgrace, humiliation, and loss of enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer 

16 spiritually; was prevented and will continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily 

17 activities and obtaining the full enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain 

18 loss of earnings and earning capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses 

19 for medical and psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of 

20 these injuries, Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of 

21 the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

22 As a further result of the above-described conduct by Defendants Plaintiff further 

23 requests injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants from, among other things: allowing their 

24 pedophilic/ephebophilic agents to have any unsupervised contact with children; transferring 

25 their pedophilic/ephebophilic agents to cOllIlnunities whose citizens are unaware of the risk to 

26 children posed by said agents; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or concealing fyom the 

27 general public and/or law enforcement when Defendants have transferred a 

28 pedophilic/ephebophilic agent into their midst; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or 
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1 concealing from law enforcement and/or the general public the identities and the criminal 

2 acts of their pedophilic/ephebophilic agents; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or concealing 

3 from the public and/or law enforcement reports, complaints, accusations or allegations of acts 

4 of childhood sexual abuse committed by Defendants' current or former agents; and insisting 

5 that reports, complaints, accusations or allegations of acts by Defendants' agents be made 

6 only in the context of a penitential communication. Defendants should be ordered to stop 

7 failing/refusing to disclose to and/or concealing and instead should identify each and every 

8 one of their current and former agents who have been accused of childhood sexual abuse, the 

9 dates of the accusation(s), the date(s) of the alleged abuse, the location(s) of the alleged 

10 abuse, and the accused agents' assignment histories. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENCE 

(Against All Defendants) 

19. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

forth herein. 

17 20. Sometime in approximately 1979 and 1980 the Perpetrators repeatedly engaged in 

18 unpermitted, hannful and offensive sexual conduct and contact with Plaintiff. Said conduct 

19 was undertaken while the Perpetrators were employees, volunteers, representatives, or agents 

20 of Defendants, while in the course and scope of employment with Defendants, and/or was 

21 ratified by Defendants. 

22 21. Prior to or during the abuse alleged above, Defendants knew, had reason to know, or 

23 were otherwise on notice of unlawful sexual conduct by the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

24 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. Defendants failed to take reasonable steps and 

25 failed to implement reasonable safeguards to avoid acts of unlawful sexual conduct in the 

26 future by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, 

27 including, but not limited to, preventing or avoiding placement of the Perpetrators and 

28 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents in functions or environments in 
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1 which contact with children was an inherent part of those functions or environments. 

2 Furthennore, at no time during the periods oftime alleged did Defendants have in place a 

3 system or procedure to supervise and/or monitor employees, volunteers, representatives, or 

4 agents to insure that they did not molest or abuse minors in Defendants' care, including the 

5 Plaintiff. 

6 22. Defendants had a duty to protect the minor Plaintiff when he was entrusted to their 

7 care by Plaintiff's parents. Plaintiff's care, welfare, and/or physical custody was temporarily 

8 entrusted to Defendants. Defendants voluntarily accepted the entrusted care of Plaintiff. As 

9 such, Defendants owed Plaintiff, a minor child, a special duty of care, in addition to a duty of 

10 ordinary care, and owed Plaintiff the higher duty of care that adults dealing with children owe 

11 to protect them from harm. 

12 23. Defendants, by and through their agents, servants and employees, knew or reasonably 

13 should have known of the Perpetrators' and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

14 ephebophilic agents' dangerous and exploitive propensities and that they were unfit agents. It 

15 was foreseeable that if Defendants did not adequately exercise or provide the duty of care 

16 owed to children in their care, including but not limited to Plaintiff, the child entrusted to 

17 Defendants' care would be vulnerable to sexual abuse by the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

18 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

19 24. Defendants breached their duty of care to the minor Plaintiff by allowing the 

20 Perpetrators to come into contact with the minor Plaintiff without supervision; by failing to 

21 adequately hire, supervise, or retain the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

22 ephebophilic agents who they pennitted and enabled to have access to Plaintiff; by failing to 

23 investigate or otherwise confirm or deny such facts about the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

24 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents; by failing to tell or concealing fTom Plaintiff, 

25 Plaintiff's parents, guardians, or law enforcement officials that the Perpetrators and 

26 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents were or may have been sexually 

27 abusing minors; by failing to tell or concealing from Plaintiff's parents, guardians, or law 

28" . enforcement officials that Plaintiff was or may have been sexually abused after Defendants 
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1 knew or had reason to know that the Perpetrators may have sexually abused Plaintiff, thereby 

2 enabling Plaintiff to continue to be endangered and sexually abused, and/or creating the 

3 circumstance where Plaintiff was less likely to receive medical/mental health care and 

4 treatment, thus exacerbating the harm done to Plaintiff; and/or by holding out the Perpetrators 

5 to the Plaintiff and his parents or guardians as being in good standing and trustworthy. 

6 Defendants cloaked within the facade of normalcy Defendants' and/or the Perpetrators' and 

7 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' contact and/or actions with the 

8 Plaintiff and/or with other minors who were victims of the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

9 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and/or disguised the nature of the sexual abuse 

10 and contact. 

11 25. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

12 suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

13 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

14 enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

15 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

16 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

17 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

18 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 26. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENT SUPERVISIONIFAILURE TO WARN 

(Against All Defendants) 

Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

24 forth herein. 

25 27. Defendants had a duty to provide reasonable supervision of the Perpetrators and 

26 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and to use reasonable care in 

27 investigating the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

28 Additionally, because Defendants knew or should have known of the heightened risk the 
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1 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents posed to all 

2 children, Defendants had a heightened duty to provide reasonable supervision and protection 

3 to children with whom Defendants allowed the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic 

4 and/or ephebophilic agents to have contact and/or custody and control of; and to provide 

5 adequate waming to the Plaintiff, the Plaintiff's family, minor students, and minor 

6 parishioners of the Perpetrators' and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

7 agents' dangerous propensities and unfitness. 

8 28. Defendants, by and through their agents, servants and employees, knew or reasonably 

9 should have known of the Perpetrators' and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

10 ephebophilic agents' dangerous and exploitive propensities and that they were unfit agents. 

11 Defendants also knew that if they failed to provide children who had contact with the 

12 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents sufficient 

13 supervision and protection, those children would be vulnerable to sexual assaults by the 

14 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. Despite such 

15 knowledge, Defendants negligently failed to supervise the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

16 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents in the position of trust and authority as Roman 

17 Catholic Priests, religious brothers, religious instructors, counselors, school administrators, 

18 school teachers, surrogate parents, spiritual mentors, emotional mentors, and/or other 

19 authority figures, where they were able to commit the wrongful acts against the Plaintiff. 

20 Defendants failed to provide reasonable supervision of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

21 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, failed to use reasonable care in investigating the 

22 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and failed to 

23 provide adequate warning to Plaintiff and Plaintiff's family of the Perpetrators' and 

24 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' dangerous propensities and 

25 unfitness. Defendants further failed to provide Plaintiff with adequate supervision and 

26 protection, and failed to take reasonable measures to prevent future sexual abuse. 

27 29. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

28 suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 
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1 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

2 enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

3 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

4 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

5 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

6 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

7 Plaintiff has suffered general and special darnages in an arnount in excess of the 

8 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENT IDRINGIRETENTION 

(Against All Defendants) 

13 30. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

forth herein. 

31. Defendants had a duty not to hire and/or retain the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents given their dangerous and exploitive propensities. 

32. Defendants, by and through their agents, servants and employees, knew or reasonably 

should have known of the Perpetrators' and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

ephebophilic agents' dangerous and exploitive propensities and/or that they were unfit agents. 

Despite such knowledge, Defendants negligently hired and/or retained the Perpetrators and 

Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents in the position of trust and authority 

as Roman Catholic Priests, religious brothers, religious instructors, counselors, school 

administrators, school teachers, surrogate parents, spiritual mentors, emotional mentors, 

and/or other authority figures, where they were able to commit the wrongful acts against the 

Plaintiff. Defendants failed to use reasonable care in investigating the Perpetrators and/or 

Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents and failed to provide adequate 

warning to Plaintiff and Plaintiff's family of the Perpetrators' and Defendants' other 

pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' dangerous propensities and unfitness. Defendants 
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15 

further failed to take reasonable measures to prevent future sexual abuse. 

33. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, huruiliation, and loss of 

enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

jurisdictional minimuru of this Court. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FRAUD 

(Against All Defendants) 

16 34. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

17 forth herein. 

18 35. Defendants knew and/or had reason to know of the sexual misconduct of the 

19 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

20 36. Defendants misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose information relating to 

21 sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

22 agents as described herein, and Defendants continue to misrepresent, conceal, and fail to 

23 disclose information relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

24 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents as described herein. 

25 37. Defendants knew that they misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose 

26 information relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

27 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

28 38. Plaintiff justifiably relied upon Defendants for information relating to sexual 
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1 misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

2 39. Defendants, with the intent to conceal and defraud, did misrepresent, conceal or fail to 

3 disclose information relating to the sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

4 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

5 40. As a direct result of Defendants' fraud, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to suffer 

6 great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of emotional 

7 distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of enjoyment of 

8 life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will continue to be 

9 prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full enjoyment of life; 

10 has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning capacity; and/or has 

11 incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and psychological treatment, 

12 therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, Plaintiff has suffered general 

13 and special damages in an amount in excess of the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

14 41. In addition, when Plaintiff discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing 

15 thereafter, Plaintiff experienced recurrences of the above-described injuries. In addition, 

16 when Plaintiff finally discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing thereafter, Plaintiff 

17 experienced extreme and severe mental and emotional distress that Plaintiff had been the 

18 victim of the Defendants' fraud; that Plaintiff had not been able to help other minors being 

19 molested because of the fraud; and that Plaintiff had not been able because of the fraud to 

20 receive timely medical treatment needed to deal with the problems Plaintiff had suffered and 

21 continues to suffer as a result ofthe molestations. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FIDUCIARY/CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP FRAUD 

AND CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FRAUD 

(Against All Defendants) 

27 42. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

28 forth herein. 
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1 43. Because of Plaintiffs young age, and because of the status ofthe Perpetrators as 

2 authority figures to Plaintiff, Plaintiff was vulnerable to the Perpetrators. The Perpetrators 

3 sought Plaintiff out, and were empowered by and accepted Plaintiff's vulnerability. 

4 Plaintiff's vulnerability also prevented Plaintiff from effectively protecting himself. 

5 44. By holding the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

6 agents out as a qualified Roman Catholic clergy, religious brothers, religious instructors, 

7 counselors, school administrators, school teachers, surrogate parents, spiritual mentors, 

8 emotional mentors, medical services providers and/or caregivers, and/or other authority 

9 figures, and by undertaking the religious and/or secular instruction and/or spiritual and 

10 emotional counseling, and/or medical care of Plaintiff, Defendants held special positions of 

11 trust and entered into a fiduciary and/or confidential relationship with the minor Plaintiff. 

12 45. Having a fiduciary and/or confidential relationship, Defendants had the duty to obtain 

13 and disclose information relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

14 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

15 46. Defendants misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose information relating to 

16 sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

17 agents, and Defendants continued to misrepresent, conceal, and/or fail to disclose information 

18 relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

19 ephebophilic agents as described herein. 

20 47. Defendants knew that they misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose 

21 information relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

22 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

23 48. Plaintiff justifiably relied upon Defendants for infoIDlation relating to sexual 

24 misconduct of the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

25 49. Defendants, in concert with each other and with the intent to conceal and defraud, 

26 conspired and came to a meeting of the minds whereby they would misrepresent, conceal or 

27 fail to disclose information relating to the sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and/or 

28 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 
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1 SO. By so concealing, Defendants committed at least one act in furtherance of the 

2 conspiracy. 

3 51. As a direct result of Defendants' fraud and conspiracy, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

4 continues to suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical 

5 manifestations of emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, 

6 humiliation, and loss of enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; 

7 was preyented and will continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiffs daily activities 

8 and obtaining the full enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of 

9 earnings and eaming capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for 

10 medical and psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these 

11 injuries, Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

12 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

13 52. In addition, when Plaintiff discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing 

14 thereafter, Plaintiff experienced recurrences of the above-described injuries. In addition, 

15 when Plaintiff finally discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing thereafter, Plaintiff 

16 experienced extreme and severe mental and emotional distress that Plaintiff had been the 

17 victim of the Defendants' fraud; that Plaintiff had not been able to help other minors being 

18 molested because of the fraud; and that Plaintiff had not been able because of the fraud to 

19 receive timely medical treatment needed to deal with the problems Plaintiff had suffered and 

20 continues to suffer as a result of the molestations. 

21 

22 SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

23 BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AND/OR CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP 

24 (Against All Defendants) 

25 53. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

26 forth herein. 

27 54. Because of Plaintiff s young age, and because of the status of the Perpetrators as 

28 authority figures to Plaintiff; Plaintiff was vulnerable to the Perpetrators. The Perpetrators 
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1.6 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

sought Plaintiff out, and were empowered by and accepted Plaintiff's vulnerability. 

Plaintiff's vulnerability also prevented Plaintiff from effectively protecting himself. 

55. By holding the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

agents out as a qualified Roman Catholic clergy, religious brothers, religious instructors, 

counselors, school administrators, school teachers, surrogate parents, spiritual mentors, 

emotional mentors, medical services providers and/or caregivers, and/or any other authority 

figure, by allowing the Perpetrators to have custody and control of and/or contact with the 

Plaintiff, and by undertaking the religious and/or secular instruction and/or spiritual and/or 

emotional counseling and/or medical care of Plaintiff, Defendants entered into a fiduciary 

and/or confidential relationship with the minor Plaintiff. 

56. Defendants and each of them breached their fiduciary duty to Plaintiff by engaging in 

the negligent and wrongful conduct described herein. 

57. As a direct result of Defendants' breach of their fiduciary duty, Plaintiffhas suffered, 

and continues to suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical 

manifestations of emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, 

humiliation, and loss of enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; 

was prevented and will continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities 

and obtaining the full enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of 

earnings and earning capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for 

medical and psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these 

injuries, Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

22 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

23 

24 EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

25 NEGLIGENT FAILURE TO WARN, TRAIN, OR EDUCATE PLAINTIFF 

26 (Against All Defendants) 

27 58. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

28 forth herein. 
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1 59. Defendants breached their duty to take reasonable protective measures to protect 

2 Plaintiff and other minor parishioners and/or students from the risk of childhood sexual abuse 

3 by the Perpetrators and/or Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, such as 

4 the failure to properly warn, train, or educate Plaintiff, his parents, Defendants' agents, 

5 employees and volunteers, and other minor parishioners and/or students about how to avoid 

6 such a risk and/or defend himself or herself if necessary, pursuant to Juarez v. Boy Scouts of 

7 America, Inc., 81 Cal.App.4th 377 (2000). 

8 Defendants knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of 

9 the general risk of sexual assaults against children and, specifically, of the Perpetrators' and 

10 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' propensities to commit, and history 

11 of committing, sexual abuse of children, and that an undue risk to children in their custody 

12 and care, such as Plaintiff, would exist because of this propensity to commit sexual assaults, 

13 and the history of sexual assaults against children, unless Defendants adequately taught, 

14 educated, secured, oversaw, and maintained students, including Plaintiff, as well as other 

15 children.in the custody and control of, or in contact with, Catholic clergy and Defendants' 

16 other pedophilic and ephebophilic agents. Defendants were put on actual and/or constructive 

17 notice, at least as early as 1964, that the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

18 ephebophilic agents were sexually assaulting children at countless locations, including Santa 

19 Barbara County. From that date forward, Defendants repeatedly and negligently ignored 

20 complaints from victims and/or their parents, as well as warnings from Catholic clergy, that 

21 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic Catholic clergy were assaulting children in, among other 

22 locations, Santa Barbara County. 

23 Defendants also knew or should have known that the general risk of sexual assaults 

24 against children and, specifically, the risk posed by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

25 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' propensities to conuuit, and history of conunitting, 

26 sexual abuse of children, could be eliminated, or at least minimized, if they took steps to 

27 educate, warn and train children in Defendants' custody and control, as well as those 

28 children's parents, and Defendants' employees, agents and volunteers, regarding the danger 

- 41 -

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



1 posed by pedophilic and ephebophilic clergy, how to recognize and avoid this danger, and 

2 how a child should defend herself or himself when assaulted by pedophilic and/or 

3 ephebophilic clergy. Based on their knowledge of the risk posed by the Perpetrators and 

4 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and the history of sexual assaults 

5 around Santa Barbara since at least 1936, Defendants had a duty to take the aforementioned 

6 steps. 

7 Notwithstanding the knowledge of the general risk of sexual assaults against children 

8 and, specifically, that the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

9 agents had such propensities to commit, and had committed, sexual abuse of children, and 

10 notwithstanding that Defendants knew it was not only reasonably foreseeable but likely that 

11 the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents would sexually 

12 assault children, Defendants breached their duty to adequately teach, educate, secure, oversee, 

13 and maintain students, including Plaintiff, as well as all other children in the custody and 

14 control of, or in contact with, Catholic clergy, and breached their duty to educate, warn and 

15 train children in Defendants' custody and control, as well as those children's parents and 

16 Defendants' employees, agents and volunteers, regarding the danger to children posed by 

17 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic clergy, how to recognize and avoid this danger, and how a 

18 child should defend himself or herself when assaulted by pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

19 clergy. 

20 Defendants knew or should have known that thei,r failure to exercise reasonable care, 

21 as discussed above, would cause Plaintiff severe emotional distress and physical injury. 

22 Because of the foreseeability and likelihood of sexual assaults by the Perpetrators and 

23 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents against Plaintiff and other children, 

24 Defendants breached their duty of care to Plaintiff and other children in their custody and 

25 control. 

26 The failure of Defendants (0 educate, wam and train children in Defendants' custody 

27 and control, as well as those children's parents and Defendants' employees, agents and 

28 volunteers, regarding the danger to children posed by pedophilic and/or ephebophilic clergy, 
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1 how to recognize and avoid this danger, and how a child should defend himself or herself 

2 when assaulted by pedophilic and ephebophilic clergy, was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's 

3 injuries as alleged herein. 

4 60. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

5 suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

6 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

7 enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

8 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

9 enjoyment oflife; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

10 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

11 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

12 Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

13 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

(Against all Defendants) 

18 61. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

19 forth herein. 

20 62. Defendants' conduct was extreme and outrageous and was intentional or done 

21 recklessly. Defendants knew or should have known the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

22 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents were spending time in the company of and assaulting 

23 numerous children, including Plaintiff, around Santa Barbara and other locations, including 

24 on school grounds, in the parishes, and in the Perpetrators' rectory rooms. Defendants also 

25 knew or should have known the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

26 ephebophilic agents were high risks to all children as Defendants had received numerous 

27 complaints and other notice of prior acts of childhood sexual abuse by the Perpetrators and 

28 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and had sent the Perpetrators and/or 
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1 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents for treatment for their pedophilia, 

2 prior to and/or after assigning them to work in Santa Barbara. Given their knowledge of 

3 numerous prior acts of abuse by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

4 ephebophilic agents, Defendants knew or should have known that every child exposed to the 

5 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, including Plaintiff, 

6 was substantially certain to be assaulted by the Perpetrator and Defendants' other pedophilic 

7 and/or ephebophilic agents. Defendants knew or should have known, and had the 

8 opportunity to learn of, the intentional and malicious conduct of the Perpetrators and 

9 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and thereby ratified and joined in 

10 said conduct by failing to tenilinate, discharge, or at least discipline the Perpetrators and 

11 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, and/or by failing to prevent them 

12 from having contact with children. The conduct of Defendants in confirming, concealing and 

13 ratifYing that conduct was done with knowledge that Plaintiff's emotional and physical 

14 distress would thereby increase, and was done with a wanton and reckless disregard of the 

15 consequences to Plaintiff and other children in their custody and control. 

16 63. As a result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiff experienced and continues to 

17 experience severe emotional distress resulting in bodily harm. 

18 64. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

19 'Suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

20 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

21 enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

22 continue to be prevented from perfonning Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

23 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

24 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

25 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

26 Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

27 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

28 
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2 

3 

4 65. 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

(Against All Defendants) 

Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

5 forth herein. 

6 66. Defendants knew or should have known that their failure to exercise reasonable care 

7 in the selection, approval, employment and supervision of the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

8 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents would cause Plaintiff severe emotional distress. 

9 Because of the foreseeability of sexual assaults by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

10 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents against Plaintiff and other children, Defendants 

11 breached their duty of care in engaging in the conduct referred to in the preceding paragraphs. 

12 67. Defendants knew or should have known that their failure to exercise reasonable care 

13 in providing adequate supervision to Plaintiff and other children in their custody and control, 

14 despite the fact they knew or should have known of the threat to children posed by the 

15 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, would cause 

16 Plaintiff severe emotional distress. Defendants also knew or should have known that their 

17 failure to disclose infonnation relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and 

18 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents as described herein would cause 

19 Plaintiff severe emotional distress and subject him to further assaults. Because of the 

20 foreseeability of sexual assaults by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

21 ephebophilic agents against Plaintiff and other children, Defendants breached their duty to 

22 exercise reasonable care in failing to provide adequate supervision to Plaintiff and other 

23 children in their custody and control, and in failing to disclose infonnation to Plaintiff, his 

24 family, and the general public relating to sexual misconduct of the Perpetrators and 

25 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

26 68. Finally, Defendants knew or should have known that their creation and continuance of 

27 the Public Nuisance set forth in the preceding paragraphs would cause Plaintiff severe 

28 emotional distress. Because of the foreseeability of sexual assaults by the Perpetrators and 
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1 Defendants' other pedophilic andlor ephebophilic agents against Plaintiff and other children 

2 as a result of this conduct, Defendants breached their duty of care in creating and continuing 

3 the Public Nuisance referred to in the preceding paragraphs. 

4 69. Plaintiff experienced and continues to experience severe emotional distress resulting 

5 in bodily harm. 

6 70. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

7 suffcr great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

8 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

9 enjoyment oflife; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

10 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

11 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

12 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

13 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

14 Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

15 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

16 In addition, when Plaintiff finally discovered the negligent misrepresentations of 

17 Defendants, and continuing thereafter, Plaintiff experienced extreme and severe mental and 

18 emotiomil distress that Plaintiff had been the victim of the Defendants' negligent 

19 misrepresentations; that Plaintiff had not been able to help other minors being molested 

20 because of the negligent misrepresentations; and that Plaintiff had not been able because of 

21 the negligent misrepresentations and failure to disclose to receive timely medical treatment 

22 needed to deal with the problems Plaintiff had suffered and continues to suffer as a result of 

23 the molestations. 

24 III 

25 III 

26 III 

27 I I I 

28 III 
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2 

3 

4 

5 71. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

UNFAIR COMPETITION -

VIOLATION OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONS CODE § 17200 

(Against all Defendants) 

Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

6 forth herein. 

7 72. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants conspired and engaged in unlawful, unfair 

8 or fraudulent business acts, within the meaning of Business & Professions Code § 17200. 

9 73. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants were and are engaged in nonprofit business 

10 activities, including but not limited to: providing public service which the Catholic Church 

11 refers to as its "ministry"; operating schools, universities, orphanages, or other institutions; 

12 providing religious, psychological, emotional and social counseling; conducting various 

13 charitable activities and providing services whether or not within the scope of26 U.S.C. § 

14 501(c)(3); and soliciting charitable donations. 

15 74. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants have as a significant source of revenue the 

16 receipt of charitable donations from persons who worship or associate themselves with the 

17 Catholic Church. 

18 75. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants conducted and continue through the 

19 present to conduct their respective business affairs as set forth in Paragraphs 72 through 74 in 

20 such a manner as to willfully and negligently: foster an environment conducive to predatory 

21 . pedophilic and ephebophilic behavior; conceal from the general public the sexual assaults 

22 committed by, the identities of, and the pedophilic and ephebophilic tendencies of, Catholic 

23 clergy; protect the pedophilic and ephebophilic clergy from civil and criminal prosecution; 

24 respond to allegations of sexual misconduct against the Catholic clergy with blanket denials 

25 and/or the creation of entities controlled by the Church hierarchy that are misrepresented as 

26 taking appropriate action but instead perpetuate the concealment of sexual misconduct; 

27 represent to the Catholic laity and the general public that appropriate action is being taken by 

28 the Church concerning allegations of sexual misconduct and child molestation when in fact it 
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1 is engaging in concealment and suppression of the truth; place predatory clergy into 

2 communities with children without any warning to those communities; and attempting to 

3 shield themselves from their reporting obligations of suspected childhood sexual abuse under 

4 Penal Code section 11166 by insisting that anyone making a report of misconduct by a 

5 Franciscan do so in the context of penitential communications to the Franciscan receiving the 

6 report. 

7 Further, on information and belief, Defendants represent to the Catholic laity, the 

8 general public and survivors of clergy abuse that they have created entities, such as the 

9 Independent Response Team and/or the Office of Pastoral Outreach and/or the Province 

10 Review Board, which purport to "offer help ... for those affected by Friar misconduct." 

11 Defendants further represent to the public that these entities will handle each "claim with the 

12 strictest sensitivity and confidentiality." In reality, and notwithstanding any good intentions 

13 of the lay people who work within these entities, the information obtained by such entities 

14 ultimately is harvested by the Franciscans and provided to their attorneys for use against 

15 survivors of Franciscan sexual abuse who attempt to make a claim for the injuries they have 

16 suffered. 

17 76. The activities described in Paragraph 75 violate various civil and crirninallaws of 

18 California and of the United States; 

19 77. The activities described in Paragraph 75 violate various civil and criminal laws of 

20 California and of the United States, including the duty to report incidents of childhood sexual 

21 abuse as required by Penal Code § 11166; 

22 78. The activities described in Paragraph 75 offend public policy; are immoral, unethical, 

23 oppressive, and unscrupulous; are substantially injurious to persons who utilize the services 

24 described in Paragraph 75; and are undertaken without any valid reason, justification or 

25 motive. 

26 79. Defendants all conducted their business activities in such a way that members of the 

27 public are likely to be deceived regarding those business activities. 

28 80. As a result of the acts of unfair competition by Defendants, Plaintiff has suffered, and 
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1 continues to suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical 

2 manifestations of emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, 

3 humiliation, and loss of enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; 

4 was prevented and will continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities 

5 and obtaining the full enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of 

6 earnings and earning capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for 

7 medical and psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these 

8 injuries, Plaintiff has suffered general and special darnages in an amount in excess of the 

9 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

10 81. As a further result of the above-described conduct by Defendants, Plaintiff further 

11 requests injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants from, among other things: allowing their 

12 pedophilic/ephebophilic agents to have any unsupervised contact with children; transferring 

13 their pedophilic/ephebophilic agents to communities whose citizens are unaware of the risk to 

14 children posed by said agents; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or concealing from the 

15 general public and/or law enforcement when Defendants have transferred a 

16 pedophilic/ephebophilic agent into their midst; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or 

17 concealing from lawenforcement and/or the general public the identities and the criminal 

18 acts of their pedophilic/ephebophilic agents; failing/refusing to disclose to and/or concealing 

19 from the public and/or law enforcement reports, complaints, accusations or allegations of acts 

20 of childhood sexual abuse committed by Defendants' current or former agents; insisting that 

21 reports, complaints, accusations or allegations of acts by Defendants' agents be made only in 

22 the context of a penitential communication; and representing to the public that Defendants 

23 have created entities to assist survivors of childhood sexual abuse when in reality Defendants 

24 use such entities to obtain infomlation used to attack survivors who make claims for injuries 

25 caused by that abuse. Defendants should be ordered to stop failing/refusing to disclose to 

26 and/or concealing and instead should identifY each and every one of their cun'ent and former 

27 agents who have been accused of childhood sexual abuse, the dates of the accusation(s), the 

28 date(s) of the alleged abuse, the location(s) of the alleged abuse, and the accused agents' 
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1 assignment histories. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FRAUD AND DECEIT 

(Against All Defendants) 

6 82. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

7 forth herein. 

8 83. The Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents held 

9 themselves out to Plaintiff as Roman Catholic Priests, religious brothers, religious 

10 instruCtors, counselors, school administrators, school teachers, surrogate parents, spiritual 

11 mentors, emotional mentors, medical services providers and/or caregivers, and/or other 

12 authority figures. The Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

13 agents represented to Plaintiff and Plaintiff's parents that they would counsel and guide 

14 Plaintiff with his educational, spiritual, and/or emotional needs, and/or represented that they 

15 would provide medical care to Plaintiff that they were not qualified to provide. 

16 84. These representations were made by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

17 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents with the intent and for the purpose of inducing 

18 Plaintiff and Plaintiff's parents to entrust the educational, spiritual and physical well being of 

19 Plaintiff with the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

20 85. The Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents 

21 misrepresented, concealed or failed to disclose information relating to their true intentions to 

22 Plaintiff and Plaintiff's parents when they entrusted Plaintiff to his care, which were to 

23 sexually molest and abuse Plaintiff. Plaintiff justifiably relied upon the Perpetrators' and 

24 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents' representations. 

25 86. The Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents were 

26 employees, agents, and/or representatives of Defendants. At the time they fraudulently 

27 induced Plaintiff and Plaintiff's parents to entrust the care and physical welfare of Plaintiff to 

28 the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents, the 
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1 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents were acting within 

2 the course and scope of their employment with Defendants. 

3 87. Defendants are vicariously liable for the fraud and deceit of the Perpetrators and 

4 Defendants' other agents. 

5 88. As a result of the above-described conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

6 suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physicai manifestations of 

7 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

8 enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

9 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

10 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of earnings and earning 

11 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

12 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result of these injuries, 

13 Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

14 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

15 89. In addition, when Plaintiff fmally discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing 

16 thereafter, Plaintiff experienced recurrences of the above-described injuries. In addition, 

17 when Plaintiff finally discovered the fraud of Defendants, and continuing thereafter, Plaintiff 

18 experienced extreme and severe mental and emotional distress that Plaintiff had been the 

19 victim of the Defendants' fraud; that Plaintiff had not been able to help other minors being 

20 molested because of the fraud; and that Plaintiff had not been able because of the fraud to 

21 receive timely medical treatment needed to deal with the problems Plaintiff had suffered and 

22 continues to suffer as a result of the molestations. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

PREMISES LIABILITY 

(Against All Defendants) 

27 90. Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this First Amended Complaint as if fully set 

28 forth herein. 
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1 91. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants were in possession of the property where 

2 the Plaintiff was groomed and assaulted by the Perpetrators, and had the right to manage, use 

3 and control that property. 

4 92. At all times herein mentioned, Defendants knew that the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

5 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents had a history of committing sexual assaults 

6 against children, and that any child at, among other locations in Santa Barbara, the Mission 

7 and St. Anthony's, was at risk to be sexually assaulted by the Perpetrators and Defendants' 

8 other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. 

9 93. Defendants knew or should have known that the Mission and St. Anthony's had a 

10 history of grooming of and/or sexual assaults against children committed by the Perpetrators 

11 and/or Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents and that any child at, among 

12 other locations in Santa Barbara, the Mission and St. Anthony's, was at risk to be sexually 

13 assaulted. It was foreseeable to Defendants that the Perpetrators and Defendants' other 

14 pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents would sexually assault children if they continued to 

15 allow the Perpetrators and/or Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents to 

16 teach, supervise, instruct, care for, and have custody and control of and/or contact with 

17 children. 

18 94. At all times herein mentioned., Defendants knew or should have known the 

19 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents were repeatedly 

20 committing sexual assaults against children. 

21 95. It was foreseeable to Defendants that the sexual assaults being committed by the 

22 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents would continue if 

23 Defendants continued to allow the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

24 ephebophilic agents to teach, supervise, instruct, care for, conduct physical examinations of, 

25 and have custody of and/or contact with young children. 

26 96. Because it was foreseeable that the sexual assaults being committed by the 

27 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents would continue if 

28 Defendants continued to allow them to teach, supervise, instruct, care for, conduct physical 
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1 examinations of, and have custody of and/or contact with young children, Defendants owed a 

2 duty of care to all children, including Plaintiff, exposed to the Perpetrators and/or 

3 Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents. Defendants also owed a 

4 heightened duty of care to all children, including Plaintiff, because of their young age. 

5 97. By allowing the Perpetrators and/or Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic 

6 agents to teach, supervise, instruct, care for, conduct physical examinations of, and have 

7 custody of and/or contact with young children, and by failing to wam children and their 

8 families ofthe threat posed by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

9 ephebophilic agents, Defendants breached their duty of care to all children, including 

10 Plaintiff. 

11 98. Defendants negligently used and managed the Mission and St. Anthony's, and created 

12 a dangerous condition and an unreasonable risk of harm to children by allowing the 

13 Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or ephebophilic agents to teach, supervise, 

14 instruct, care for, conduct physical examinations of, and have custody of and/or contact with 

15 young children at, among other locations, the Mission and St. Anthony's. 

16 99. As a result of the dangerous conditions created by Defendants, numerous children 

17 were sexually assaulted by the Perpetrators and Defendants' other pedophilic and/or 

18 ephebophilic agents. 

19 100. The dangerous conditions created by Defendants were the proximate cause of 

20 Plaintiff's injuries and damages. 

21 101. As a result of these dangerous conditions, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to 

22 suffer great pain of mind and body, shock, emotional distress, physical manifestations of 

23 emotional distress, embarrassment, loss of self-esteem, disgrace, humiliation, and loss of 

24 enjoyment of life; has suffered and continues to suffer spiritually; was prevented and will 

25 continue to be prevented from performing Plaintiff's daily activities and obtaining the full 

26 enjoyment of life; has sustained and will continue to sustain loss of eamings and eaming 

27 capacity; and/or has incurred and will continue to incur expenses for medical and 

28 psychological treatment, therapy, and counseling. As a proximate result ofthese injuries, 
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1 Plaintiff has suffered general and special damages in an amount in excess of the 

2 jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

3 

4 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for damages; injunctive relief; attorney's fees and costs; 

5 statutory!civil penalties according to law; and such other relief as the court deems appropriate 

6 andjust. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 DATE: 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

JURy DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues so triable. 

November 3, 2009 NYE, PE~.s~~E'rNG & HALE, LLP 

By: ~~===:::..c:::::::::::"""---2::::::::: C 
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'. 

. \ .. , ...... 

~ l!everend Jmnes ~. Booth 
North h1eri08l1 College, 
Via. dell thiltil 30 
ROI\I.e, I~ 

Dear FatherBoothl 

WeUUindeed 00 gl'atE>!'ltl. to have the OOriet'itOE )'liu.x' yries~ lI1in1.8trlltiO%llJ 
~t;fl''llbat J.oolai l:ike Il possibJ.e thre.e I!>Onthe. llGf'oX'$ cotdng to a':final. dec!aiQl1~ 
,hO\<evel-, mllYOu~ cheolc the poIIllible OO/lt of 'a tr.I.p by \>oI.t or l>hne to 
the 1h!iwd Staws and :trolll New l:orl( to SlllI DiegQ7 You Ul1derlitarid, ot course, 
that, .rlth our li11>ited rello~s 'Inl =t watch the overhead. ' 

Please :reed over the ~c1J:>sed petition tlIld note the dll'tio1litiell that confl'ont 
us in X'$gardto the tenm-e of the FTanoiecan Fathers in 138",I1llgtllld BellUlllOUt. 

" . " 

~ 1'aot is tha.tt.he lIlajot'it.,. of 1.ranoieoan prieets are not tl-l!ined £Ql' par.\.1h 
1'/\)rlc..' Last S'IlIllIIIer a ool!allitwe of "Ollle fO\lrleUi )?Ill'ishionel'~ ~8enting the' 
rtlllk and ;t'lle of: the l'reoioua lUood Pariah 111 I3ann1'Jg, llU!de' a ~ to San Diego , , 
to »<)t1tiO'1 'that a dioce1'8n prieet re;!>l.aoo the l':rsncl.soan Father 1Ibo, althOugh a 
goodprl.eetf ~ too old to do~. !l'b1e·group pointed out that the 
diooollBIl. pneBts had bullt cihurohes and ochaolll all al'OWld tbell but their pariah 
had made rio pt'ogresB 111. thin the last .fif'l;r ;rell1's .... all. OE wb1.eh ill .onq too trD.e • 

.Anathel" aDgle thatle of :hnportBnoe. 'rhe.:tate 'l.rclib:I.ehop Cantlrel1 obtained a llcn&­
jilac~.tar the l!'rano1eolln Fathers to enj01 at llanning, )leaumont and other pariehe.. 
bocauee of their 1dlling;nolllJ at that 'tI;me to jIOcept the Indian llise101l8 111 t.hie ' 
llloceeEl. Over a. ;rear ago, the l':rMoiuoan Fatheril gave up the :tndien Jlissione on 
'tho plea that their 'rathel'S 'lfel'O ne~ in Chin&. ',' 

l>Ilr1l:\g tbe Udt:teen year" rdnoe th1a Diocese '!rae, eNQted, to ll\T 01IIl pel'sonal. 
kno1fle'dge, the Santa llarlulra l'rov:l.noe of the l':ranoil108n r",thera has uped. thiI 
Di()(u,"o ,as a dumping gr'o~ tor their =el., IIlente! .BX\d phyaical. probleml!. It 
OOCI!ll!e neoessar,y .for IIle eolllO tillle ago to <IEim8nd the 'llithdrawal OE one lIdettt 
stWr another, To be ".Peoifio, in a IDOl'O reoent oa.ae, the)" sent a man l'IhOIle 
heal:th hed brol(en 1n 'C}dna. - rather &!manu,ol ..... IlllIl. 'llbo had never had a psrieh 

, 111 the 1.In1ted States before to take oharge of tho l'reoi011I1 ll100d Pariah ~ 
Banning. lie has not onlytai1ed but he bile caU8ed. a decided rift 111 the ~ 
there ru< tbepeopl.e e.rd B).l. on edge through J.aclc ot experience, 1.1nprudenoe and 
sudden change or judgell1ent regax'ding the purchase' or property:for the propelled. 
schoO.J.. ,The faot is that the pari sh has to 00 directed troll this Cha.nci0l')' beca'llllO 
the ino\lllibent there 11'1 :incompetent. Several ,mekil ago 1m requoeted the I'rOv:11lO1el. 
to rCll1()ve hiIn and to replace hl.ln with an experienced. oompetent pastOr. ~ Vory 
Reverend Provincial Augustine lIobrecht oelled here yesterde)" end requested ~ 
time beoause he hl'd no p1'1est IlYnUable to send to ll;mning. :til the l!leent11M, 
religion tmJ:£ers. Note copies ot: inclosed lettere .rt-oll1 w.u Franoisoens 'IIilo had 
parJ..ehes 111 this Piocoso. 
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Id'te%' utud;rincrthe llIatw%', '«iU you ldndl:y. e.dvi&& IIU) regarcfula a Canonist !n . 
llOIDG ..mo tIu'oug'b. exporienco end other quatitd.OlI 1o'Ould be the beat to represent' 
I!le in ~t1t1.on3.ng 'the Congregat1.on to pet .aside 'the lleneplacitua and re8tore 
'the tw;> p:;riobes 6to Banning and Bea\lll\Ont to the l>l.oceBG ~. the good ot religion. 

About 'b\'Q ~eare ago thl) Idssion Il.Ol'OS8 the trAolai tor ~ana in· Bea~UB·. 
'Wl'Go1c«\ by an oarthqUake. Sinoe that tble lI$ have been baggil!g md plaadillg 
\'d.t;h the pastor in chal'ge ~ assetnbJe aOll\eld.nd ot an outl!nG £or tbG reb"ilding 
at the Uerloan Ui.6sion1 bu;t 'WI\! can f t even get Il. ~ to. out' lettaro. I 
asked to%' 'the removal. ot the sick pricBt the Frenaiacme had sent to B~t . 
and npw it 0000tlle8 ne08Slllll7 to request tll() ren1oval. at hl:seuOoeeeor. It 1a the 
I!llIlIO old Ilto17_ '!he ·FrDncl."oane ~ do not hIM! uel:I. t:ra1.1).ed. ror tbil! lIol'Ic. . 

y¥ t:\.l'et thought ,rni1 ~ thello tIIltWII c~ be Fosantedto the preeont Frlll101e~ 
{Jel1Ol'Ill he llIight coneidol' giving Up the tile pnrl.Bboe ot ~ an'" Bannillt." 
!l'h~ stm have t,,., atbe%' ]llIritlliea - 0llI.l in San l:l:I.eco and one'in Fwt Y'llimlo JiQ'\h 
have beei1 poQl:'ly. ste1'ted and have boen ep1ri.tuaU3' delldto:-tbo past ~ '; 
ye1l1'll to Il11 pol:'aonaJ. knur!ledgo.,In Old i'o'o!\1, Sill DillltO, '1ft! have tr.l.ed to get ~ , 
Fran9iBClUll!'atmrll to build 1\ paroohial. school. Durlng .. World 'Jar. II thsy' PI1i'- : 
olulsOO· a vast runoun1o .ot laM adjoining their p~ wt got it tied Up b;r leaM 
tor gove:inmlmt property. It they had buUta sChool '1Ihen .reqtII)~ :!.t 'f<O'6l.d. lmve 
been. paid to~ now. It;you. Wllk :1.10 wise to request tho Ban 11!.eBO ))(U'111b, that 
could be 1II!llUded in .0urpet1.timl. It:l.e indoed _10 regrettabl.e tbat1hese 
pari.shol! ~l"b~VEn to the Frlll101eoDful OOollUlle t.llw 8%'9 absol.u~ Mede<l..fIn- onr' 
Olnl Diooo.san Fiosts 111 vierr Qt the tact that 'the 1ntenso heat or liszper:!.al. .,,~ 
and the. C~cl1oll.a Vnlley reQ'iliree a change afte10 t;w 0);" three ~ 1"<>:r :uu, 
pM.eete 'I1bo ewve in thOlle dU'ticul.t QJ..:\.nvJe., . -

You B\lW~ set· tho 'pioture and :ym1 can be n great hall' to ue in col1.abO:'atLng , 
,11. th ona ot thelandine Cl4'1on:i.sts 111 Ror..e to ndjUBt t.b1e diW.oul:liT. It, 6!ter' 
due oonllide:-aUon, tho VC!'y' Ravorend Umeral deolines to t'al.etill'l the par1Bbee '. 
under·oonsidO%'at.ion. then you nn1 the Conon1nt reteined could. o~to 11 pe101. tiOn 
to thtl ConwegatiQU'that handles these 1IUl.tte%'s. It:l.8 possib'le tbat. ')'PU ~ 

. l::OQu1re IDCIrO dete:U8 batore mdppitig th e oa'Be into &a:I. J3hape to);" JlX'osentation. 

With ldndjlst reg~s arxi renmred D.ppreoiation, 

Devo~ your eer"lllllt in Cirlet, 

k 
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